TALLINN UNIVERSITY OF TECHNOLOGY

School of Business and Governance

Department of Business Administration

Md Sahadat Hossain

THE CHARACTERISTICS OF THE START-UP ENTREPRENEURIAL ECOSYSTEM IN THE E-COMMERCE SECTOR IN BANGLADESH

Master's thesis

International Business Administration

Thesis Supervisor: Merle Küttim, PhD

Tallinn 2022

I hereby declare that I have compiled the thesis independently and all works, important standpoints and data by other authors have been properly referenced and the same paper has not been previously presented for grading.

The document length is 1447 words from the introduction to the end of conclusion.

Md Sahadat Hossain, 04.01.2022 (signature, date) Student code: 184558 TVTM Student e-mail address: hossainsik@gmail.com

Supervisor: Merle Küttim, PhD:

The paper conforms to requirements in force

.....

(signature, date)

Chairman of the Defence Committee:

Permitted to the defence

.....

(name, signature, date)

TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION
1. LITERATURE REVIEW10
1.1. Theory of dynamic capabilities10
1.2. Social network theory
1.3. Entrepreneurial ecosystem models12
1.4. Characteristics of the entrepreneurial ecosystem14
1.5. Different aspects of the entrepreneurial ecosystem for start-ups
1.6. Challenges faced by entrepreneurs while starting a new venture in Bangladesh17
1.7. Opportunities are available for entrepreneurs while starting a new venture in Bangladesh 19
1.8. The role of government and other aspects of the entrepreneurial ecosystem for start-ups in Bangladesh
1.9. How start-up entrepreneurs view the entrepreneurial ecosystem in Bangladesh
1.10. Overview of E-commerce in Bangladesh25
2. RESEARCH METHODOLOGY
2.1. Research design
2.3. Data collection and analysis methods
2.4. Sampling and sample
3. ANALYSIS AND FINDINGS
3.1. Entrepreneurial perceptions of the ecosystem
3.2. Key firm and entrepreneur indicators
3.3. Discussion and recommendations
CONCLUSION
REFERENCES
Appendix 1. Questionnaire
Appendix 2 Non-exclusive license

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Age of the respondents	
Figure 2. Educational qualifications of the respondents	31
Figure 3. Type of sector	31
Figure 4. Years of entrepreneurial experience	32
Figure 5.Components of entrepreneurial ecosystem	33
Figure 6. Services and support provided by the government	34
Figure 7. Elements of the policy environment	35
Figure 8. Sources of finance	36
Figure 9. Financial elements	36
Figure 10. Available business support services	37
Figure 11. Educational service quality	38
Figure 12. Human capital elements	39
Figure 13. The elements of the market as obstacles	39
Figure 14.Elements of infrastructure as obstacle4	40
Figure 15. Elements of infrastructure	41
Figure 16. R&D activities4	42
Figure 17. Sources of finance	43
Figure 18. Financial equity4	43
Figure 19. Additional capital4	44
Figure 20. Profit margin (last year)4	45
Figure 21. Permanent full-time employee (last year) and Full-time employee (founding year)4	45
Figure 22. Delivery infrastructure	46
Figure 23. Reason to engage in entrepreneurship4	47
Figure 24. Motives for pursuing the opportunity4	47

ABSTRACT

Entrepreneurship in Bangladesh is anticipated to be a major factor for the economy because of the opportunities afforded by increasing economic diversification and a corresponding rise in employment opportunities and other benefits. However, studies show that a lot of challenges are still plaguing both startups and governments. In the last few years, the entrepreneurial ecosystem has risen to prominence as a significant research topic. The entrepreneurial ecosystem consists of several interrelated factors in a specific geographic location.

The research problem of the current thesis is the lack of information about the characteristics of the startup entrepreneurial ecosystem in the e-commerce sector in Bangladesh. The research aim is to determine the strengths and weaknesses of the startup entrepreneurial ecosystem in the E-commerce sector in Bangladesh. To fulfil the research aim, a series of research questions has been developed.

Survey has been picked up as the research strategy. For data collection, online questionnaire has been sent to the respondents. The population size of this research is 1200-1300 and the sample size is 125, gathered by nonrandom sampling. After that the data has been interpreted by using descriptive statistics.

The results of the study show that the important elements of the entrepreneurial ecosystem for startups in the e-commerce sector in Bangladesh are markets, human capital, finance, R&D, policy, infrastructure. The e-commerce company has the opportunity to access a huge market of big population. The challenge that must be addressed by entrepreneurs are to understand the laws and legislation of Bangladesh, funding shortage, and shortage of skilled human capital. At the end of this research recommendations have been made on the startup entrepreneurial ecosystem in the e-commerce sector in Bangladesh so that start-ups can thrive even immensely.

Keywords: Entrepreneurial ecosystem, Bangladesh, Startup, E-commerce.

INTRODUCTION

The Entrepreneurial ecosystem has rapidly appeared as a significant area of research (Cavallo et al. 2018; Acs et al. 2017; Malecki 2018; Jacobides et al. 2018). The idea of an ecosystem isn't new, and its first acquaintance was found with Tansley (1935). However, it was Nelson and Winter (1982) that attracted more extensive interest to the subject by their work on evolutionary economic theory. In the most dynamic sense, the ecosystem is an abiotic local area incorporating the actual climate and every living entity, and all the complex interactions that work with its concurrence, codependence, and codevelopment (Acs et al. 2017).

The entrepreneurial ecosystem is a set of various factors that are dependent on each other. These factors have interacted with each other in a geographical area and grown or evolved. Entrepreneurship boasts economic development in different countries globally. The ecosystem of entrepreneurs is made up of many stakeholders who belong to the public and private domains. They also involve collective and individual stakeholders and measures of policy that are appropriately described and adopted for improving their action, development, and articulation. The main motive or purpose is to promote entrepreneurship, create economic growth, and enhance value creation (Kuckertz 2019). Entrepreneurial ecosystems include a variety of factors: high qualification of human capital, favorable environment and culture, the system of finance, open markets, policy measures, governance, etc. Some of the significant elements of the entrepreneurial ecosystem are entrepreneurs, talent, and knowledge (McKague et al. 2017).

The entrepreneurial ecosystem is significant because it realizes innovation and growth; it should function well for entrepreneurs. It is essential as it is taken as an interactive network of actors who can influence each other and increase the survival chances of a venture creator and the company in a country or a region (Akter, Iqbal 2019).

Entrepreneurs are the individuals who grow and incept the new start-ups with the people who support them. Entrepreneurs work continuously and tirelessly to develop their new ventures and to add value to the field. The other aspect is knowledge; entrepreneurs need resources, knowledge, and individuals who could help and consider assets. Technological advancement eases every sphere of an individual's life. Electronic business is one of them. Electronic business implies business dependent on the web which is typically known as E-Commerce. The reception of Information Communication Technology (ICT) is an ideal interest to embrace nearly everybody in the general public, so it is important to foster a feasible web-based E-commerce ecosystem (Poorangi et al. 2013). Besides, there is one more challenge with expanding counterfeit items continuously which lessens the trust of online businesses. The two buyers and dealers are experiencing this issue which influences the internet business environment. Appropriately, the outsider of internet business plays a huge part in surviving the circumstance as a mediator (Chen 2015).

Nonetheless, in agricultural nations like Bangladesh poor admittance to address market data, poor foundation, in some cases missing framework hampers to take on online business innovation appropriately. Yet, the reception of the internet business approach might be a decent chance to foster a country. Since the producer addresses their products effectively to worldwide market regardless of the language, culture, country. The internet brings the opportunity to get the globe in hand and market their item around the world. It gives a lot of advantages to people and merchants in creating just as evolved nations. Some developed nations easily run overall brand E-trade sites like Amazon, eBay, Walmart.com, LLBeandn.com, Sony.com, Alibaba.com, Taobao.com and so on while a huge number of firms from developing nations, for example, South Korea, Tai-wan, Israel, Brazil and Bangladesh have as of now become worldwide players in many ventures (Cui, Pan 2015). These developing nations firms can take benefits of online business to showcase their item into homegrown and around the world.

Bangladesh took on internet technology in 1996 and the number of internet users developing quickly now. BTRC 2016 reports that half development of internet users and client numbers reached around 60 million from 2013 to 2016. The online business is step by step occurring in Bangladesh through expanding of the network access supplier, IT trained professional, internet business sites and earnest participation from the public authority of Bangladesh and a national bank. In future, an online business system can carry great freedom to this emerging nation if it very well may be applied for appropriate business purposes including all internet business measurements, for example, B2B, B2C, C2C and Mtrade. Consequently, seeing all the difficulties, openings, dangers, strengths, weaknesses are without a doubt important now for successful internet business filling in Bangladesh. Disregarding a few obstructions, as of late numerous e-commerce platforms are set up in Bangladesh. Utilizing information technology and developing several mobile and internet users, Bangladeshi businessmen are presently acquainted with e-commerce (Choshin, Ghaffari 2017) and different fields of internet business stages growing quickly. In 2012 e-business exchange volume around (Bangladeshi currency) was 450 million wherein 2013 it is expected to arrive at BDT-2000 million (Mohiuddin 2014) which shows a striking advancement of internet business area in Bangladesh.

The **research problem** of the current thesis is the lack of information about the characteristics of the startup entrepreneurial ecosystem in the e-commerce sector in Bangladesh. Regardless of the outlined measurement of the online business area in Bangladesh, but just a couple of researchers so far have investigated the strengths, difficulties and weaknesses of the Bangladesh E-commerce business market. Hence, the point is to investigate the strengths, difficulties and weaknesses of the E-commerce business in its improvement measurements in Bangladesh.

The current thesis report includes areas that mention the characteristics of the entrepreneurial ecosystem and their impact on entrepreneurs while incorporating a start-up in e-commerce in Bangladesh (Theodoraki, Messeghem 2017). It would also involve the role of government and other aspects of the entrepreneurial ecosystem for start-ups.

The research **aim** is to determine the strengths and weaknesses of the startup entrepreneurial ecosystem in the E-commerce sector in Bangladesh.

To fulfil the aim, the following research questions have been developed:

- 1. What are the components of the entrepreneurial ecosystem for start-ups in the e-commerce sector in Bangladesh?
- 2. What are the ecosystem-related opportunities available for entrepreneurs while starting a new venture in Bangladesh?
- 3. What are the ecosystem-related challenges faced by entrepreneurs while starting a new venture in Bangladesh?
- 4. What is the role of the government for start-ups in the e-commerce sector in Bangladesh?

The thesis uses a quantitative research design. The primary data is collected with an online questionnaire from E-commerce entrepreneurs in Bangladesh so that their opinions and views regarding the entrepreneurial ecosystem could be collected directly and systematically (Ratten 2020). The current thesis focuses on gathering quantitative information because it is believed that numeric information is more accurate, authentic, reliable, and appropriate based on statistical data (Babii 2020). Therefore, for attaining the objectives of the thesis the author has concentrated on gathering and analyzing numeric information. The collected data is also represented through the graph and tabular format.

The thesis is structured into introduction, literature review, methodology, data analysis, conclusion, and recommendations. The literature review includes the discussion of dynamic capabilities and social network theory and different models of the entrepreneurial ecosystem. In methodology, the data collection method is explained. Analysis part presents the results and discusses these. Conclusion and recommendation are the last chapters that summarizes the thesis and presents practical recommendations for the development of startup entrepreneurial ecosystem in Bangladesh.

1. LITERATURE REVIEW

The present thesis finds appropriate information and relevant information related to the entrepreneurial ecosystem in Bangladesh. With the assistance of secondary sources, the author has worked to answer pre-defined questions systematically and effectively.

1.1. Theory of dynamic capabilities

Dynamic capabilities are more about how the industry uses its variety of resources. Teece and Pisano propounded it in 1994. Teece, at el. (1997) have defined dynamic capabilities as the capacity of the firm to join, create and reconfigure internal and external skills to react to the expediently evolving environments. This theory is developed to solve weaknesses that were in the resource-based view theory. Past research has given a definition of dynamic capacities. Eisenhardt and Martin (2000) characterize dynamic capacities as the course of utilization assets to make new assets that can make market change. Some even concluded that dynamic capabilities can clarify how firms react to change (Newey, Zahra 2009) particularly from the natural setting. By using this theory, firms gain competitive advantages in this dynamic environment. This framework uses different tools and methods through which entrepreneurs can create wealth for their organizations.

Dynamic capacities additionally have been a centre region particularly in the field of strategic management (Barreto 2010) and the firm achievement doesn't just rely upon the assets and abilities that the firm has, yet above all on how the firm change itself with the market they worked (Rua et al. 2018). Organizational performance has a direct relationship with dynamic capabilities. It means that if the capabilities are in favour of the organization, this will help enhance the business's overall performance. A small change in the resource creates an impact on the industry. When entrepreneurs want to expand their business internally, this theory is good for them to use. With the help of their capabilities in terms of skills, knowledge, and resources, firms can go into the global market and increase their public image. By adopting this theory, they can also gain sustainable competitive gain from their competitor. The concept of strategic management has been used by the firm in this theory of dynamic capabilities.

It is important to note that there are a few limitations to dynamic capabilities theory. Birkinshaw et al. (2016), and Pisano (2017) noted that while dynamic capabilities are significant, they have similar innate limits as any conventional strategy in being not able to accomplish competitive advantages simultaneously. It is not only vital for a firm to have a dynamic capability; the capability should be superior to that of each conceivable contender. For the dynamic capability to be genuinely uncommon and significant, it should be an unprecedented ability that eventually only one firm anyplace can have (Collis et al. 2018).

1.2. Social network theory

Social network theory is a framework that the organization uses for communication. In this theory, the organization learns how humans, organizations, and groups will interact within the workplace. This theory was developed in the late 19th century to find what factors can be used within the workplace to share information. Here the organization uses various nodes to connect and maintain social relationships. In social network theory, a network means tying the nodes with actors to perform a social system. Here actors are the individual, organization, industry, and many more. Communication can be based on legal information, a relation based on friendship, affection, authority etc. This framework should be used by the organization to maintain confidentiality and smooth functioning, and the company should develop their internal communication channel to communicate (Burt 2004).

The network comprises of a bunch of actors or shared nods in a bunch of specific bond types (like friendship) that associate them. The relationship is interrelated to accomplish the same objective to frame a way that indirectly associates actors who are not associated or straightforwardly bound. The bond design in the network creates a specific structure, and the actor possesses a situation inside this structure. Most network studies look at the attributes of the network structure and the situation of the actor (centrality) and endeavor to relate it to the accomplishments/yields produced by groups and actors (Boggati, Halgin 2011).

The entrepreneurial ecosystem structure is introduced as a network that comprises many components that interface in complex ways. The entrepreneurial ecosystem comprises networks that are both

formal and informal between the ecosystem parts (Isenberg 2010; Roudy 2017). A heavenly body of associations exists between the two people (for example entrepreneurs, investors) and associations (universities, support organizations, states, corporations) (Neck et al. 2004; Roudy 2017). The ecosystem is viewed as an impression of how the entrepreneurial group has a profound and very much associated relationship with investors, and cross-sectoral advocates (Case, Harris 2012; Roudy 2017).

Well-established networks among individuals from the entrepreneurial ecosystem are advantageous because they work with the free flow of data, knowledge and skills both between ecosystem individuals and from outside the framework (Spigel 2017; Ter Wal et al. 2016; Roudy 2017). Ter Wal et al. (2016) clarify that the entrepreneurial ecosystem comprises various networks, for example, information networks, political networks, entrepreneur networks and financial networks (Borissenko, Boschma 2016). As well as making connections among ecosystem members, events are significant because they assist with generating local issues' the feeling of enthusiasm and expectation of what occurs in an ecosystem that attracts individuals (Bathelt et al. 2004; Roudy 2017). Jennen and Tina (2016) clarify that entrepreneurial ecosystems have a functional organisational impact so that having more individuals in the networks guarantees further developed practices, allows motivations and talent to be shared, and makes co-location more important.

It is essential to note that there are a few limitations to social network theory. Social actors have ties among themselves that are marks of relationships, not relationships all by themselves, which are more complicated and dynamic than can be found through surveys or secondary source research. Social network researchers using surveys may likewise restrict the scope of responses that network individuals can give by restricting the number of ties being scrutinized, or discretionarily bouncing organizations, or both—possibly barring network individuals and their assets from analysis (Nan Lin at el. 2001).

1.3. Entrepreneurial ecosystem models

There are many models for the entrepreneurial ecosystem (Isenberg 2010; WEF 2013; ANDE 2013; 2014; Spigel 2015; Stam 2015; Nicotra et al. 2017; Spigel and Harrison 2017) that have been developed that are for the most part different in their classification, accumulating the components.

The entrepreneurship ecosystem is a community that uses multiple elements independent from one another and is used for interaction in the geographical area.

There are six elements of the entrepreneurship ecosystem (Isenberg 2010): policy, finance, culture, supports, human capital, and markets. These are those factors that affect the local or regional entrepreneur and also add value to the organization. As introduced, Isenberg's model is solid and famous for its straightforwardness, unequivocal quality, and absence of hierarchy and authority. Additionally, the model is planned around the entrepreneurs and what they see as significant. The weakness is all ecosystem elements are taken as equivalent significance.

In his paper, Spigel 2015, notes the significance of perceiving the connections between the attributes. Spigel's social methodology proposes that the entrepreneurial ecosystem is dynamic and can have various configurations relying upon the relations between the attributes (Spigel 2015). It can likewise be seen that considerable attributes cross-over and separating them into various domains can be restricting. In their paper (Stam, Spigel 2016), Spigel and Stam examine characteristics and deficiencies of various entrepreneurial ecosystem approaches including the Isenberg and propose another model implemented by the relational approach. Since leadership gives hierarchical direction, leaders will in general become good examples and tutors to entrepreneurs. Since this component is hierarchical, it controls whether the ecosystem is solid or not. This is apparent in nations with corrupt administration where development levels are low and business ventures are debilitated. The strong side of this model is that it considers the relation between the components category and the weakness is all ecosystem elements are taken as equally significant.

According to Nicotra et al. (2017) entrepreneurial ecosystem is a blend of social, political, financial and cultural components in an area that upholds the growth and development of inventive new startups and empowers new-born business visionaries and different entertainers to face the challenge of starting, subsidizing, and in alternate ways helping high-risk organizations. There is diversity in the entrepreneurial ecosystem. As the factors are the same for every organization, but the way of using them is different, which is why the ecosystem is not the same.

Reidolf et al. (2019) have in their research merged four models to develop their model, they are: the model of the World Economic Forum (WEF) (2013, 2014) the ANDE (2013) model proposed for applied research; the Stam (2015); the Spigel and Harrison (2017). In their model, they proposed nine

elements of entrepreneurial ecosystems which comprise of different possible elements: leadership, markets, human capital, research and development, financing, support services, infrastructure, policy and regulatory framework, and culture. They also address the dynamics of entrepreneurial ecosystem by including different phases – from nascent to mature and declining. The strong part of the model is it contains all key elements of the entrepreneurial ecosystem.

It is seen that the elements of the entrepreneurial ecosystem are almost the same but, in some model, they are differently presented. The elements of the entrepreneurial ecosystem support the various firms to do innovation and diversify with different ideas. All these elements help the company for a more extended period and gain an advantage in this changing environment. - By using this entrepreneurial ecosystem approach, the organization can also sustain itself on their own. The author has decided to use the model of the entrepreneurial ecosystem developed by Reidolf et al. (2019). Since the model has been applied in Estonia and used as the basis for conducting interviews (qualitative design), the author uses the model for Bangladesh with an online survey questionnaire (quantitative design).

1.4. Characteristics of the entrepreneurial ecosystem

According to Drori and Wright (2018), the entrepreneurial ecosystem refers to the community-made from multiple factors and interdependence. They have interacted with themselves in a geographical area and work together to evolve. The key motive is the promotion of creating new businesses. Fostering and developing entrepreneurship is the core competency for developing an economy in different countries of the world. The formation of an entrepreneurial ecosystem is made up of various stakeholders who are from the public and private domains. Some of the characteristics of the entrepreneurial ecosystem are:

It is essential to know that each entrepreneurship ecosystem is different and unique (Broad, Ortiz 2020). They discussed six domains (Isenberg 2010) that are used to define it; each ecosystem is the outcome of various factors distinctively interacting. Hence, having the exact domains does not mean that all ecosystems are similar to each other.

Diversity is one of the most integral parts of innovation, and diversity in the entrepreneurial ecosystem is one of its characteristics. Diversity is linked to innovation. Diverse and different inputs are required for entrepreneurship from other people who start companies. Culture is needed that supports different communities and multiple industries with many ideas. Entrepreneurs take diverse investment portfolios so that best could be performed (Rock, Grant 2016). According to Cohen and Hochberg (2014), each productive entrepreneurial ecosystem will in general have at least one effective innovative pioneer entrepreneurial leader who turns into an amazing source of motivation to his or her peers. Successful entrepreneurs with a demonstrated history and financial freedom can proceed with their entrepreneurial exercises by rousing and exhorting others based on their mastery and by investing their time and money.

Most entrepreneurial ecosystems are talent magnets. They need to retain, attract, and constantly cultivate the best talents in their companies. This also involves potential employers and entrepreneurs (Bischoff, Volkmann 2018). There is an excellent linkage between schools, universities, and the private sector. This is mainly done so that demand and supply for talent could be managed effectively and efficiently. Talent is necessary for growing the business, and another most significant thing is retaining them in the company for a longer time period. The marketplace is constantly growing faster, and rapid development is also taking place almost everywhere. Companies and organizations have turned towards digital marketing because now people spend more time on the internet, so companies provide training rather than recruiting new ones (Jumasseitova, Potluri 2020). There are multiple resources and knowledge that entrepreneurs need. It involves basic questions such as how to get a license for export to significant strategy changes and management changes. When the ecosystem is great, it always ends up creating advantages for entrepreneurs. Entrepreneurs require different resources like talented people, capital, office space, and professional services. According to the entrepreneurial viewpoint, entrepreneurs perceive the chances for taking advantage of overflows and accordingly make new challenges to change over this exposed information into economic information. This, thus, empowers passage into new business sectors and makes an incentive for the whole economy over the long haul (Acs et al. 2013). In the ideal entrepreneurial ecosystem, all these resources are available abundantly.

It is said that "success breeds success" by nourishing back the entrepreneurial ecosystem six domains, and there is an attraction that is decreasing government involvement. When there are six strong

domains, this helps strengthen and helps public leaders not invest in the business, which allows in surviving battle (Lillis 2021). The six domains which used are policy, culture, finance, support, human capital, and market domain.

Then next is the social-economic environment is the characteristic of the entrepreneurial ecosystem (Sankaran, Demangeot 2017). As it helps in shaping entrepreneurial locally and regionally. This can be done by developing a strategy. Whenever this model is used, the focus is to build region and value creation and addition. This is mainly a collective strategy that is used for creating innovative approaches and assets for start-ups.

1.5. Different aspects of the entrepreneurial ecosystem for start-ups

From the views of Akter and Iqbal (2019), startups are coming into the market nowadays more. Entrepreneurs are the one who is being supported by a community of people also other start-ups surrounded by them. Nowadays, start-ups are coming into the e-commerce sector more to increase profits and enhance their customer base. There can be various aspects of entrepreneurial ecosystems for start-ups in Bangladesh. The most crucial thought which is needed for starting up an organization in the market is human resources. These resources come from colleges, universities, and other educational institutes. Many of the students who know to code and are very fluent in digital marketing should be adequate for start-ups. Universities must cope with updates in their technologies and focus more on entrepreneurial courses. This could help the organization select the best candidates who have the best knowledge about a particular task to be performed in the organization (Wagner et. al. 2021). Being in the E-commerce sector, the entrepreneur needs to find those candidates working effectively in the organization and behaving well in the workplace. Then, the next aspect is funding providers-after identification of resources, it is essential to have funding providers for their start-ups. Being in Bangladesh, there is a need for more funding. This will help the organization get more funds from different sources and use the latest and updated technologies to start their business.

According to Karim et al. (2018), start-ups are more critical of surviving because of investors. Some of the investors who could be utilized to start the business, venture capital firms, loans and grants, crowdfunding and government, etc. These investors help the start-ups and entrepreneurs start their

businesses most virtually. Another aspect to consider is Incubators and accelerators- as these are the programs that assist start-ups in success since, they provide better mentorship, guidance, and training and some partnerships to the new start-ups. These provide at an early stage so that start-ups can work effectively, and they are secure for their future as well. In context with Bangladesh, their E-commerce sector is growing in the market. So, they need proper funding to start and need appropriate mentorship and guidance as well. So, for this, Incubators and accelerators are providing better training programs to use.

Further, consultants and agencies are to be hired by entrepreneurs to develop their organizational structure, and by this, they could be able to earn more profits and revenues. One of the other different aspects which are to be of the entrepreneurial ecosystem is service providers (Malecki 2018). As they are needed as banking providers so that their activities could effectively work in the business environment. In addition, media and blogs can be the best techniques that are being used at the time of starting the new venture. The entrepreneur uses start-ups to make customers aware of products and services (Spigel, Vinodrai 2021). In Bangladesh, the E-commerce sector, they could see these aspects for developing growth opportunities for them and resulting from this in profits of the organization.

1.6. Challenges faced by entrepreneurs while starting a new venture in Bangladesh

According to Luu and Ngo (2019), there are various challenges which is faced by entrepreneurs while starting a new E-commerce venture in Bangladesh. While running a business in an international market creates multiple problems that can affect the business's growth and profitability. So, entrepreneurs must look at those problems before establishing e-commerce business in Bangladesh.

Communication difficulty is one of the problems faced by an entrepreneur while setting up a business in Bangladesh. The entrepreneur has to address the different challenges such as differences in language, time zones, and culture. The e-commerce business must get familiar with the language of Bangladesh so that they can deal with the employees, investors, and customers efficiently (Umurhohwo 2020). To succeed in-country, it is necessary to have effective communication with clients, investors, suppliers, and stakeholders. Cultural differences can influence the market demand for their e-commerce products. The financial issue is also a problem that is faced by entrepreneurs while establishing a business in Bangladesh. Expanding the business in Bangladesh requires huge investment and resources, which entrepreneurs must manage. The company also requires funds to run the business effectively and survive in the market for the long run. If entrepreneurs successfully establish the e-commerce business with their saved money, they still require more investments to run the business smoothly according to Rana al el. (2021).

Hiring employees and team building is another issue that entrepreneurs may face when establishing e-commerce businesses in Bangladesh. A group of people runs the organization, so it is necessary to hire talented employees who can contribute their best efforts to increase the productivity and profitability of the business. It is stressful to hire new employees from the new country as they have to pick the right staff according to their qualifications and efficiency (Essel al el. 2019). They have to post job requirements by mentioning the specific need and profile of the candidate so that managers can hire top talents for running the business effectively and efficiently.

The currency rate is another challenge that can affect the productivity and growth of business in Bangladesh. So, it is necessary to assess the currency rate fluctuation and monitor the exchange rates as it creates a huge impact on the balance of business profit and expenses. The entrepreneur must choose the proper global shipment method that can influence revenue and increase business growth (Luvizan al el. 2016).

Technological changes can be another challenge for the organization because nowadays, there are various updated and latest technologies coming in the E-commerce sector so that employees could feel more motivated, and their efficiency gets enhanced. Further, organizations and employees can save their time and effort most effectively while using updated and latest technologies (TerjeSen 2016). So, if technology is not updated in the organization, this may result in the entrepreneur's most prominent issue for start-ups businesses.

From the above challenges, it can be said that there are various issues that entrepreneurs could face at the time of starting a business most virtually. Some obstacles like foreign laws and regulations and hiring a talented team can be the biggest challenge for entrepreneurs in starting a business in any company. As in context with Bangladesh, the E-commerce sector is proliferating in the market, so entrepreneurs must develop accordingly by considering these challenges in mind (Crespo et al. 2021).

Other issues like technology challenges and customer taste and preferences would be considered, developing their overall growth opportunities. Further, currency rates and financial performance will be the next challenge that could be considered in mind. In context with the E-commerce sector in Bangladesh, they must work effectively to increase customer satisfaction while considering organizational issues and challenges in mind effectively.

1.7. Opportunities are available for entrepreneurs while starting a new venture in Bangladesh

From the views of Díez-Martín et al. (2021), while starting a new venture, it is vital to analyze the opportunities which are coming into the market. There can be various opportunities coming into the market for entrepreneurs while starting any new venture in Bangladesh. Entrepreneurs in Bangladesh can start new ventures in the E-commerce sector. They could even identify various opportunities so that they could earn more profitability and increase customer satisfaction. First, entrepreneurs have to be innovative and creative while implementing any of the strategies in the market. If the entrepreneur is making effective marketing strategies, this may result in increased opportunities for their businesses. As the first opportunity which can be identified by the entrepreneur in Bangladesh such as innovation in-home delivery, by not charging delivery charges, providing online training and development sessions to employees, teleworking, remote personal, etc. as these small innovations result in enhancing their new venture and developing various opportunities for them to attract customers towards their brand and company. Secondly, identifying customer tastes and preferences can be an immense opportunity for an entrepreneur when starting any new business. In context with Bangladesh's E-commerce sector, it is representing a potential market.

According to Jim-Suleiman et al. (2021), the country is earning a global reputation in women empowerment, maternal mortality ratio reduction rate, etc., so there can be various opportunities that an entrepreneur can identify enhancing their new venture in the market. Some of the opportunities can be inventing in multiple businesses, as this can be the most mammoth opportunity that an entrepreneur could take while starting a new venture. At the biggening, an entrepreneur has to take risks for starting their business and making the growth of their future business. So, for investing in many companies, the entrepreneur can take this opportunity to lose in one industry, then they have another option to grow. The next opportunity can be Angel investors- as nowadays investors are becoming more popular, and entrepreneurs could take opportunities of taking money from these investors. These investors provide funding to investors under stress and focus on products and the loyalty of customers. The next opportunity can be quality content- as producing quality content will enhance customer satisfaction. As good content will result in the increasing profitability of the company.

According to Nwafidelie (2021), as in context with the E-commerce sector in Bangladesh, the entrepreneur can create opportunities while providing quality products to the customers. As the quality of products helps the business connect with customers, thus resulting in increasing customers' loyalty. Making better products and services can create an opportunity for making new sales. The next opportunity that can be available for an entrepreneur for the new venture is the social power of the internet- as this is another opportunity which the entrepreneur can use as they could make effective use of social networks which helps them in building their brand reputation and connecting with customers as well. As social media handling helps new ventures become aware of their business, even customers get engaged with their products and services. In context with Bangladesh, their e-commerce sector is more effectively used when it is to be placed in social media networks, as by developing various organizational aspects, it is considering that social media is creating opportunities for new ventures so that they could develop more in the market and by this the customer number will be enhanced.

According to Rudeloff et al. (2021), foreign markets can be another opportunity for entrepreneurs to have better contacts with other companies. As in context with Bangladesh, they have more growth opportunities, resulting in creating more growth opportunities for entrepreneurs so that they could develop more in the market and enhance customers more than other companies. While implementing certain strategies and using various updated technologies, an entrepreneur could develop their profits and revenues. Further, they should focus more on cultural diversity, and maintaining quality in the business environment will result in increased growth opportunities for their employees and organization. In addition, entrepreneurs should focus on available resources and financial funding so that their resources could be less and thus there could be no resulting in more profits and revenues. Listening to customer needs and demands can develop business opportunities in a different country.

Entrepreneurs should keep the prices of products and services in mind, which helps them create productivity and efficiency.

1.8. The role of government and other aspects of the entrepreneurial ecosystem for start-ups in Bangladesh

According to Audretsch and Belitski (2021), The government of Bangladesh is related to develop by national ICT policies for growth and making systematic changes by the end of 2021. There are different policies and procedures for the different starts up in the E-commerce industry with the help of 100 crore funds. After the Covid-19 impact, many businesses make a high impact on the companies and make drastic changes by the end of the Covid-19 disruption (Ur Rehman et. al. 2020). Due to this, approximately 56% of the start-up companies drop their revenue and feel the downfall in their activities. The country's government makes policies to influence entrepreneurs for start-ups growth and makes it an effective sector to achieve talent and boost the morale of their public.

The government initiated with the supportive functions by the own public start-ups and made effective supports wings, whose name is Start-up Bangladesh with the help of 100 Crore BDT. Another way to introduce the products and make the systematic record for analyzing the objective and make changes by the start-up entrepreneur and seed funds throughout U\$ 1.5 Mn. As the government's role affects the company and makes systematic growth over the period and make systematic changes in the different facilities and segments of the country. The use of e-commerce activities and make effective growth in analyzing the situation and make the secured online process to make payment, option for the strong changes, ease of access and make accessible ICT infrastructure for the growth and make an effective educational program to address the change and make effective media structure to the instruction and overall growth (Yavuz 2021). As per the record, the government of Bangladesh makes a strong commitment and makes changes in promoting and using the identifying E-commerce platform. There are some solid roles and support which the government uses for providing a supportive structure to the e-commerce start-ups in the company.

Subsidy: This is the type of grant which the government provides to help the significant industries to grow and get the ability to make an effective and sustainable effort. This can be direct support for the companies related to e-commerce websites site or indirect for the infrastructure, building, and

beneficial character to make the supportive structure and growth. Most government subsidies are related to practical working and make significant steps for providing support and effective, innovative activities to make changes in the goods and services (Parrish, Tilley 2016). Bangladesh Government makes the practical support in the form of cash subsidy, Tax concession, assumption of risk, and government procurement policy to make more market price and make suitable changes.

Innovative direction: This is referred to as the position to work and make regulation, production, and effective innovation in the government regime. This is related to work and makes E-commerce a great opportunity to innovate products for compelling features and standards (Anokhin et al. 2021). The government makes necessary changes and provides related growth for effective innovation and participation tools for safety and innovative support. The government of Bangladesh supports innovative direction. It makes a significant aspect of analyzing the data and making effective challenges in Bangladesh's growth of E-commerce sites.

Standard Setting objectives: This is related to working and doing effective practices for growth and making limitations for the choices and managing the activities in advance technological innovation. In context with the E-commerce sector, they could provide their services to the public and provide better citizens to the customers (Neneh 2019). As the government is the one who is interacting with the people, they help establish the company in the market. They are offering updates and providing delivery speed to the organization well.

Improved infrastructure: this is one of the essential functional organizations which is needed in the business for long-term success. It is vital to have updated and latest infrastructure in their new business, which helps the entrepreneur develop their growth opportunities for the future (Marks, Batev 2021). Infrastructure is attained by government support. The internet is becoming significant nowadays for organizations as an infrastructure for exchanging their data and information. As infrastructure is more important

Security and privacy: As in the e-commerce sector, trust is the most crucial thing which is to be given by an organization, and customers should have trust in the brand. In context with government and business, it is a supreme task to consider security issues that are being raised in the organization most. There can be some risk related to the privacy of payments and delivery security which is to be

considered while the brand is operating (Dai et. al. 2018). On the other hand, the government should focus on individual privacy as they could find stalkers and act against them.

Awareness: In the Bangladesh e-commerce sector, brands have to make effective strategies to bring more awareness to the customers. The government could create awareness about a company to the customers (Chapman 2021). This helps in growing the business and developing potential customers.

1.9. How start-up entrepreneurs view the entrepreneurial ecosystem in Bangladesh

From the views of Thorsteinsdottir et al. (2021), start-ups of the Bangladesh ecosystem are coming in age and riding in an economy. There can be certain investment options, also there is government support for new start-ups. Entrepreneurs are now seeing more opportunities and growth in a country where they want to operate and start their businesses. One of the significant advantages that an entrepreneur could see in Bangladesh is that it consists of a young workforce, which helps the organization innovate and implement a market strategy.

However, there is a shortage of skilled labour which can become a challenge for them to hire effective employees at a time of start-up business; the entrepreneur should have to keep these challenges in mind and works on providing practical training programs to the employees. In addition, Bangladesh's ecosystem is infancy, and its birth starts in Dhaka (Lange, Johnston 2020). There is an innovative environment. It primarily focuses on developing an organization and mainly concentrates on entrepreneur innovation and invention in their products and services. Concerning the e-commerce sector, they mostly work on innovation to attract their customers to their brand. Further, there is a vital role in digital communication service as this helps the start-up business promote their business effectively and attract more customers.

According to Hoque et al. (2021), the Bangladesh entrepreneurs' ecosystem is most effective for digital communication and global management consulting as Dhaka is a fast-growing digital ecosystem in Bangladesh. It is expanding by providing digital connections to their organization and economic growth as well. One of the other opportunities that start-ups entrepreneurs can see in the Bangladesh ecosystem is angel investors. Angel investor helps the entrepreneur in enhancing more

opportunities and attracting them towards their brand for funding. These investors are looking for start-ups that can develop in the future and consist of some new ideas. Then another opportunity which an entrepreneur could gain in the Bangladesh ecosystem is quality control- if the company is providing adequate quality of products and services, then this will attract more customers and build their loyalty and brand image. It is being said that the Bangladesh government is supporting new businesses that are healthy and providing some of the benefits to their local people (Assmann, Ehrl 2021).

Further, Bangladesh's entrepreneurial ecosystems are regarded as an inflexion point with access to 200 million international investments, which can be done by corporate investors and ventures in various large industries and start-up businesses. Currently, the country has 1000+ start-ups generating more than 1.5 million+ employment opportunities to the candidates in the local region. During pandemics, entrepreneurs are welcoming innovations and inventions that could help them generate more profits and revenues. Further, various new businesses are bringing new ideas and innovations to enhance their profits and revenues.

Due to this pandemic, the e-commerce sector has grown effectively, and they are creating more growth opportunities in the market. So, if an entrepreneur is mainly starting a new business, then this will help them in the development of their organizations. Further, concerning the Bangladesh government, they mostly support new businesses coming into their country. However, the organization should have to work according to the government policies and regulations. If they follow all those policies, this will develop the organization's opportunities, and the further government will also support them in their operation within a market.

In addition, the entrepreneur will see this entrepreneurial ecosystem of Bangladesh in competitive economics (AlQhaiwi, Abukaraki 2021). Bangladesh has a more competitive environment which could help the organization in growing. As if there is more competition within e-commerce sectors this creates opportunities for new business. But on the other hand, they could have to face certain challenges which result in demotivation and losing prospects.

Entrepreneurs could enhance good internet opportunities and benefits, which helps them in improving their events and activities. Being in a Bangladesh entrepreneurial ecosystem, they could meet new suppliers and partners while considering e-commerce businesses and potential investors. As for young entrepreneurs, this helps them enhance more investors and find more funds for their businesses.

Further, while having appropriate training and development methods, entrepreneurs could provide training and development opportunities to the employees (Shinnar, Zamantılı Nayır 2019). They could also enhance various opportunities and skills about their organization and thus have to consider multiple challenges while operating their business activities.

From the above, it can be concluded from the literature review that this research is conducted for the characteristics of the entrepreneurial ecosystem of start-ups in Bangladesh. There can be various characteristics of the entrepreneurial ecosystem which help the entrepreneur in the development of their new venture. This literature review assists the researcher in analyzing multiple aspects of the entrepreneurial ecosystem such as media and blogs and funding and training etc. The next is to find out various opportunities for the entrepreneur while starting the new business and the role of government in starting up the businesses. Ascertain opportunities to be taken out for entrepreneurs but at the same time, many of the challenges could be faced at the time of new start-ups. So, if the entrepreneur is starting any new ventures, they must consider various challenges and issues and make strategies to solve them.

1.10. Overview of E-commerce in Bangladesh

The specific number of online business firms in Bangladesh is difficult to get by. The online business Association of Bangladesh (e-CAB) has around 1,300 members. There are more than 1 lakh Facebook-based entrepreneurs. In Bangladesh, three kinds of internet business firms are common: business-to-business, business-to-consumer, and consumer-to-consumer. Bangladesh's internet-based business market is expected to reach \$3 billion by 2023 on the rear of a digital establishment set by the government and a youthful and tech-savvy populace, said Statista, a German research firm, last year (The daily star 2020).

According to Bangladesh Tele Regulatory Commission (BTRC), the number of internet users in Bangladesh had crossed 80 million in 2017. At present, there are around 2,000 e-commerce businesses and 50,000 Facebook-based outlets delivering very nearly 30,000 items per day. Right now, 80% of the e-commerce deals are occurring in Dhaka, Chattogram and Gazipur. In Bangladesh, the retail e-commerce business is developing at 72% a month. As of now, more than25,000 small and medium enterprises (SMEs) and more than 35,000 people are connected in this area. Till 2018, the number of

online business sites and e-commerce business pages equaled 2,500 and 150,000 respectively. It was assessed that the number of deliveries each day amounted to around 15,000 to 20,000 at the retail level (The financial express 2020).

2. RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

Research methodology refers to the procedure or technique to gather and analyze information related to any field of research. The principal purpose of research methodology is to support the author in collecting and analyzing authentic and appropriate information related to the aim of the study.

2.1. Research design

There are various kinds of methodologies that are great in gathering data about the characteristics of the entrepreneurial ecosystem in Bangladesh and the role of the Bangladesh Government in supporting new ventures. The research approach is defined as a procedure to evaluate collected data efficiently and effectively. This is the approach that is divided into two kinds that are: inductive and deductive approach. These two approaches are great in their manner and facilitate researchers in easily analyzing gathered data (Babii 2020). As per the requirement of the current thesis topic, the deductive approach is the selected approach. This approach assists investigators in evaluating quantitative and primary data about the characteristics of the entrepreneurial ecosystem and the government's contribution to supporting entrepreneurs in Bangladesh. The deductive approach is also helpful because it does not consume more time and assists in attaining each aim and objective properly.

Research choice assists in introducing the process of collecting data related to any topic or subject. This facilitates the researcher with relevant, reliable, and authentic information, and this research choice is mainly divided into three types: mono method, mixed-method, and multi-mixed method (Bairagi, Munot 2019). As per the requirement of the current thesis, the author has selected the mono method. In the mono method, quantitative research choice is chosen because it assists in gathering numbers and statistical information. In the present thesis, the author has also focused on gathering quantitative data so that objectives could be easily attained without taking a long time. Through quantitative research, large data can be processed and analyzed statistically almost without any bias. In this method, the researchers have more control over how the data is collected and analyzed. This method is more structured, researchers use questionnaires to collect data.

Research strategy is classified into various types: experimental research, grounded theory, survey, case study, action research, etc. (Säfsten et al. 2020). The author has picked the survey as the research

strategy since the survey questionnaire is without any problem welcoming by numerous participants, giving individual preference to their own experience. This is the strategy of the thesis for gathering data as it assists the researcher in collecting data directly from the source. A few benefits of the survey include easy access to the reader, inexpensive, primary information collection, cost-effective, and many more. Also, with the survey strategy, the author can effectively use the research instrument as the questionnaire includes closed-ended and open-ended questions. There are generally three kinds of research design: descriptive, experimental, and exploratory (Newman, Gough 2020). Descriptive is one of the standard research designs as it has the main motive of describing a problem, situation, phenomenon, and population. This is also used for quantitative research.

2.3. Data collection and analysis methods

The author has decided to use the model of entrepreneurial ecosystem developed by Reidolf et al. (2019). Since the model has been applied in Estonia and used as the basis for conducting interview (qualitative design), the author uses the model for Bangladesh with an online survey questionnaire (quantitative design). The interest groups for this survey were startup entrepreneurs in e-commerce sector in Bangladesh. Non-entrepreneurs are not considered as this is solely intended for the entrepreneurship area. They are the interest group for the survey. Looking over the non-professionals could cause the twisting of results and conclusions.

The author uses the Aspen Network of Development Entrepreneurs (ANDE) Entrepreneurial Ecosystem Diagnostic Toolkit to develop the questionnaire. The toolkit has been adapted and changed based on the regional aspect of the country under study. The questionnaire has been divided into three parts. I Demographic Information, in this section there were 10 questions about the respondents and the organization. II Entrepreneurial Perceptions of the Ecosystem, in this section there were 15 close-ended and open-ended questions about the entrepreneurial ecosystem components. III Key Firm and Entrepreneur Indicators, in this section there were 11 questions regarding the indicators of the company and the respondents. The author used multiple-choice questions, open ended closed ended questions in the questionnaire and the respondents were asked to choose one option and or give opinion. Thirty-five such questions have been asked.

To make the questionnaire understandable to the audience, the author has done an experimental run among five respondents. With the help of this pilot, some minor changes were brought to the questionnaire. Also, the structure of the questionnaire was reformed to make it simple. Facebook and Gmail are the most popular social network used in Bangladesh. To disseminate the survey question to startup entrepreneurs in the e-commerce sector, these social networks, entrepreneur's groups, communities, organizations related to entrepreneurs have been used as the primary distribution channel. The online survey was live for 17 days from 2nd of October to 18th of October. The survey was done anonymously and as an online survey to allow entrepreneurs to show their viewpoints openly and with no bias. The survey comprised of distinct questions (see Appendix 1). The questionnaire was the same for all respondents. For this thesis, descriptive statistics illustrated with graphs have been utilized.

2.4. Sampling and sample

The target groups for this survey were entrepreneurs. Non-entrepreneurs are not considered as this is solely intended for the entrepreneurship area. They are the interest group for the survey. Looking over the non-professionals could cause the twisting of results and conclusions. The total population of the survey is around 1200-1500 and the total number of respondents is 125 e-commerce startup entrepreneurs from Bangladesh. Using a questionnaire constructed expressly for this study, the author was able to gather the data needed. In this research non-random sampling has been used. Getting responses from the respondents using non-random sampling is faster, cost effective than the random sampling. Non-random sampling is beneficial to ensure that there is a great deal of data about the observation of specific targeted people.

The demographic data of this research is shown and interpreted below. While the data was collected, no preferences were given to the location. From Figure 1 it can be seen that 84% of respondents age range is between 21-30. Besides 8% are from the age group 31-40. However, only 4% from the age group between 41-50 followed by 2% from under 21 and above 51. That means most of the entrepreneurs who participated in this research are young whose age is between 21-30 years.





The survey results are in line with the data from the Global Entrepreneurship Monitor (GEM). GEM claim that the entrepreneurial ecosystem is globally dominated by males. Findings show that 73% of the survey respondents represent male entrepreneurs compared to 27% female entrepreneurs. According to GEM report (2020), total early-stage entrepreneurial activity female/male ratio is 0.6. The total early-stage entrepreneurial activity female/male ratio is 0.21 and in this thesis the ratio is 0.36.

Regarding the level of education attained by the entrepreneurs, findings reveal that 76% of the respondents possess bachelor's degrees followed by 8% master's degree (Figure 3). 7% percent have a higher school certificate.



Figure 2. Educational qualifications of the respondents Source: Prepared by author

The survey shows that the service sector is dominating in organizational type. 68 percent of the firms are service whereas 32 percent manufacturing based.

Sector

The survey shows that the garments sector is on the top of the sector which accounts to 31 of the entrepreneurs followed by 19 of the respondents are from the textile sector (Figure 3). Almost the same number (18) of respondents are from the electronics sector. The lowest number of respondents (3) are from the transport and construction sector.



Figure 3. Type of sector Source: Prepared by author

Years of entrepreneurial experience

Analyzing the data collected from the entrepreneurs, in Figure 4. 45% of the entrepreneurs have experience of 0-1 year, 36% have 2-5 years, 12% have 6-10 and 7% have more than 10 years. So, it can be said that most entrepreneurs have experience under 5 years.



Figure 4. Years of entrepreneurial experience Source: Prepared by author

Legal Status

It can be seen that, 68% of the companies are limited liability companies and 32% of the companies are corporations. Legally speaking, corporations are different from their owners. Many of the legal privileges and obligations that apply to people also apply to businesses. It's legal for them to engage in contracts, loan and borrow money, sue and be sued, hire people, possess assets, and pay taxes, among other things. LLC is a corporate form in the United States that shields its owners from personal accountability for the company's debts and obligations. They are hybrid entities that combine the features of corporations and partnerships or sole proprietorships.

3. ANALYSIS AND FINDINGS

The data from the survey was evaluated with the use of an excel spreadsheet and percentage analysis. This analysis was carried out to make the data more understandable. The next section will include the results of the data analysis, as well as any applicable interpretations:

3.1. Entrepreneurial perceptions of the ecosystem

Overview of the entrepreneurial ecosystem components

The chart below represents how important or unimportant the nine components of entrepreneurial ecosystem human capital (3.75), finance (3.59), R&D (3.48), market (3.32), infrastructure (3.18), leadership (2.93), policy and support system (2.84), culture (2.82), are (Figure 5). The figure shows that according to respondents among these nine components human capital, finance, R&D, market, policy and infrastructure are very important components for them. 41% respondents considered human capital as very important element of entrepreneurial ecosystem followed by 31% claim that finance is very important followed by 34% considered as important. After these two, the other is R&D considered as the important or very important or very important components. Around more than half of the respondents claim the policy is either an important or very important to entrepreneurs.



Figure 5.Components of entrepreneurial ecosystem. Source: Prepared by author

Policy environment and governmental support for startups in Bangladesh

Figure 6 below shows the level of satisfaction with service and support provided by the government among startup entrepreneurs in the e-commerce sector in Bangladesh. It is evident from the figure that the entrepreneurs are not satisfied at all with the service and support provided by the government which indicates the requirement of changes and improvement of service and support provided by the government. 64% of respondents are either not satisfied at all or somewhat satisfied regarding tax rate (2.28). Regarding financial support (2.58), 52% of respondents are not satisfied at all or somewhat satisfied at all or somewhat satisfied. The cost to start a business is not in favor of the entrepreneurs according to the graph. Around 50% respondents claim that starting a business (2.64) is too expensive. Only a little satisfaction can be realized in case of time to start a business according to around 18% respondents are totally satisfied with the time to start a business.



Figure 6. Services and support provided by the government Source: Prepared by author

Figure 7 below portrays the elements of the policy environment. In the policy environment section, 72% of respondents claim the tax administration (3.85) as a major or severe obstacle to start their business followed by 70% of entrepreneurs considered that the tax rate (3.79) is another major or severe obstacle for the e-commerce startup. Labor regulations (3.21) do not seem to be as an aid to the entrepreneurs. Obtaining business licensing and permits (3.19) is next obstacle considering the

number of respondents (48%). However, entrepreneurs did not find the following customs and trade regulations hard and fast for their business.



Figure 7. Elements of the policy environment Source: Prepared by author

So, it can be said, there are moderate obstacles in terms of following customs and trade regulations in Bangladesh. On the other hand, according to entrepreneurs, there are severe obstacles in tax administration and tax rates in Bangladesh.

Financial environment for start-ups in Bangladesh

Figure 8 below depicts that 26% of entrepreneurs receive financial support from friends and family which is the most reliable source of finance for them. The second and third sources of finance, according to respondents, are debts (20%) and angel investors 15% respectfully. It can be said that having finance is a major barrier for start-up entrepreneurs in the e-commerce sector in Bangladesh. The financing organization might find it difficult to rely in investing on the new start-up business.



Figure 8. Sources of finance Source: Prepared by author

Figure 9 below shows available access to finance for entrepreneurs in Bangladesh. Access to finance for entrepreneurs remains a major problem in the e-commerce startup in Bangladesh. The entrepreneurs face problems having access to debt (3.08), equity finance (3.03) and grants (2.95) makes them rely on their friends and family. 45% respondents find it major or severe obstacle to access to debt finance. Almost the same result (44%) can be seen in access to equity finance. However, only regarding access to grants, the smaller number of respondents (38%) find it as a major or severe obstacle



Figure 9. Financial elements
Source: Prepared by author

Business support services for startups in Bangladesh

Figure 10 below indicates the survey results about the satisfaction level among entrepreneurs regarding the available business support services. Findings show that (32%) of respondents are not satisfied at all with transport and logistics services (2.52). 26% of respondents are not satisfied at all with legal (2.64). Regarding entrepreneur friendly association (2.80) around half of the respondents are either not satisfied at all or somewhat satisfied. More than half of the respondents are either satisfied or totally satisfied with the private equity (3.40) services. However, the entrepreneurs are satisfied or moderately satisfied with the available business support service of energy (2.87) and accounting incubation (3.11).



Figure 10. Available business support services Source: Prepared by author

Educational environment and human capital for startups in Bangladesh

Figure 11 below presents that education does not satisfy entrepreneurs at all. This may be one of the reasons to feel human capital is the most important element. 40% of the respondents are not satisfied with the business schools (2.58) and 34% of the respondents are not satisfied at all with the education quality (2.64) of the country. On the other hand, 29% of the respondents are not satisfied at all with

entrepreneurship education (2.52). Hence, the employment of graduates (2.47) hinders according to the respondents.



Figure 11. Educational service quality Source: Prepared by author

Figure 12 below presents that the obstacles are transparent in terms of an adequately educated/ trained general workforce (3.03). 72% of the entrepreneurs responded that shortage of adequately educated or trained general workforce are either major or severe obstacle for their business. Most of the entrepreneurs (63%) expressed the availability of top managers with the qualifications in the business requires (3.0) in Bangladesh as major or severe obstacles. That clearly links the dissatisfaction of the education system and the availability of top managers with qualifications. Furthermore, according to 69% respondents, there is major or severe obstacle in the case of the Availability of IT people with the qualifications their business requires (2.68).



Figure 12. Human capital elements Source: Prepared by author

Market characteristics for startups in Bangladesh

Figure 13 indicates that the access to international market (3.9) is vulnerable for the entrepreneurs of e-commerce sector in Bangladesh. 46% entrepreneurs find it difficult to enter the international market. Almost half of the respondents have the available information about the market (2.20), meaning that they do not consider this an obstacle for their business. 56% of respondents do not consider the size of the market (2.17) as an obstacle for their business. This clearly shows that there is a market to grow for the startup business.



Figure 13. The elements of the market as obstacles

The changes suggested by entrepreneurs should be brought to get access to the market in order to increase their sales are easy access to international payment and money return policy for international payment cancellation, online payment, and swift delivery channel throughout the country and globally.

Infrastructure for startups in Bangladesh

From Figure 14 below, it can clearly be said that the transport (3.57), internet (3.36), and gas (2.98) are major or severe obstacles for their business. 71% of the entrepreneurs claim transportation is a major or severe problem for their business. As transportation is one of the key elements to run their business in e-commerce cannot be weak regarding service. Next is the internet, 62% of the respondents consider internet as a major or severe obstacle for their business. The business is based on internet connection and so the speed and the quality must be up to the level to run the business uninterruptedly. Around half of the respondents referred gas as either a major or severe obstacle followed by almost the same number regarding telecom (2.93). Regarding electricity (2.51), about 40% respondents claim as a major or severe obstacle.



Figure 14.Elements of infrastructure as obstacle Source: Prepared by author Figure 15 below shows a connection with the previous figure of 14. 67% entrepreneurs are not satisfied with the availability of internet access (2.19). Followed by poor mobile network (2.38) resulting in poor internet access. 67% of entrepreneurs are not or somewhat satisfied with the availability of mobile networks. Regarding the connectivity services (2.8), 32% respondents referred this as neither satisfied nor dissatisfied.



Figure 15. Elements of infrastructure Source: Prepared by author

R&D activities for startups in Bangladesh

Figure 16 below shows the research and development aspects of the company. The survey results show that 35% of entrepreneurs are not satisfied at all with R&D collaboration between university researchers and business (2.2) followed by 30% somewhat satisfied which shows the lack of research to attract new people for being entrepreneurs. 50% of respondents are not or somewhat satisfied with

the opportunity for knowledge and skill building (2.58). The entrepreneurs show moderate trend of satisfaction with access to information (3.03).



Figure 16. R&D activities Source: Prepared by author

The suggestions given by entrepreneurs to improve the environment of R&D component. Entrepreneurs provided different ideas such as, time management, installing computerized data management system, proper inclusion of resources, easy access to specialists, access to information, the opportunity for knowledge and skill-building, business incubator, market Research about a competitor, quality control were some of their opinions that can be conducted to develop the e-commerce sector.

3.2. Key firm and entrepreneur indicators

Overview of sources of financing

Figure 17 below depicts the sources of finance. About 65% of the respondents claim that they receive funding from their friends and family members. Regarding angel investors 33% of entrepreneurs received financial support. The other source of finance is not having an impact on funding.





Figure 18 below depicts the amount of funding sought and received by entrepreneurs as financial equity. Only 49% of entrepreneurs were successful in receiving amount of funding they sought from the bank. This clearly shows the non-reliance of the bank on entrepreneurs. The success rate of funding received is higher in venture capital (80%) than that microfinance institute (43%).



Figure 18. Financial equity Source: Prepared by author

Figure 19 below presents the short time and long-time additional capital sought by entrepreneurs. The chart shows that 55 are seeking capital for the next 12 months in the kinds of equity, 40 are seeking

for 36 months. Regarding the debt, 66 entrepreneurs seek debt within the next 12 months followed by 19 for the next 36 months. Concerning the grants, 69 seek additional capital within next 12 months followed by 55 within the next 36 months.



Figure 19. Additional capital Source: Prepared by author

Operations of the company

From the Figure 20 below survey findings show that 92% startups generated revenue last year. While only 8% startup generated loss. This reflects the potential of the market for the startup to gear up and target more market segments. It is also mentioned that 28% startup organizations had profit margin between 06-10% followed by same percentage of companies (21%) earned profit margin of 0-5% and 11-15% respectively.



Figure 20. Profit margin (last year) Source: Prepared by author

Figures 21 below depicts the number of employees recruited by the startup. The nature of the startup leads them to recruit a smaller number of employees at the time of launching the company. Figure 21 shows that in the founding year 54 companies had 14 or less employees in the beginning. Currently, as shown in figure 21, the number decreased to 47. In figure 21 also shows that 51 had between 15-29 employees. With the time span, this number now reached 53. There is also increase in recruiting between 30-49 employees from 11 to 15. It is worth mentioning that the number of companies that employ fewer employees has decreased and the number of more employees recruited has increased. This reveals that there is potential to grow business in this sector.



Figure 21. Permanent full-time employee (last year) and Full-time employee (founding year) Source: Prepared by author

Delivery of Infrastructure and Services

From Figure 22 below, For the connection of water 83 out of 110 entrepreneurs had to make informal gifts. Regarding gas 63 out of 96 entrepreneurs made informal gifts for the connection. Concerning electricity, almost half the people had to make informal gift. It is worth mentioning that almost no connection or services are available without informal gift or payment.



Figure 22. Delivery infrastructure Source: Prepared by author

Concerning the new services 57% entrepreneurs responded positively meaning that they brought new services to the market.

Reasons for engaging in entrepreneurship

Figure 23 below depicts the reason behind engaging in entrepreneurship. 39% entrepreneurs claim that they engaged entrepreneurship for combination of both to take advantage of business opportunities or there is no better choice for work. 30 % chose this profession for seeking better opportunities while they have job as well. It is also worth mentioning that 17% joined in entrepreneurship only to take advantages of business opportunities.





Survey findings in Figure 24 also show that 52% entrepreneurs joined this because they have the chance to work independently and the freedom that can bring them new ideas and dreams to be an intrapreneur. 24% entrepreneurs shared that the possibility to increase their income that motivated them to become entrepreneurs. Only 15% joined entrepreneurship just to maintain their income. To conclude, it can be said that personal autonomy is the key reason to join this profession.



Figure 24. Motives for pursuing the opportunity Source: Prepared by author

3.3. Discussion and recommendations

In this chapter the author discusses the basic findings of the survey. Furthermore, the author also analyzes the findings to identify the strengths and weakness of entrepreneurial ecosystem components followed by recommendations. Reviewing previous studies on entrepreneurial ecosystem components in the first chapter corroborated the importance of different entrepreneurial ecosystem elements. Based on the country and region, they showed that the elements of the entrepreneurial ecosystem are differently important in different regions and countries.

Entrepreneurial ecosystem components

The entrepreneurial ecosystem is a community that includes various factors which are interdependent and interact in geographical areas (Drori, Wright 2018). The main purpose of the entrepreneurial ecosystem is to promote the new business. Based on the survey findings, the author evaluates the strengths and weaknesses of the entrepreneurial ecosystem components in the e-commerce sector in Bangladesh. Each component is evaluated as either strength or weakness based on the survey findings.

Human capital and education - weakness

The basic skills and education of the people do not seem to be in line with the country's development. Human capital is the most important component of the entrepreneurial ecosystem for the startup ecommerce sector in Bangladesh considered by the entrepreneurs (41%). Entrepreneurial ecosystem is talent magnet (Hossain et al. 2020). Human capital with the qualification required by the company makes it successful. Survey findings reveal that the overall quality of human capital is weak according to the requirements of the survey companies. Survey findings assign human capital as one of the worst components of the Bangladeshi startup entrepreneurial ecosystem in the e-commerce sector. Though Bangladesh is in abundance with labor, entrepreneurs (63%) still complain regarding the shortage of top managers with the qualification they require. On the other hand, universities are providing thousands of graduates every year who do not possess any entrepreneurial lessons that create an imbalanced environment in the job market. Around 38% of entrepreneurs claim that most graduates remain unemployed. General skills and knowledge about entrepreneurship of the country's population hinder the development of startup e-commerce in Bangladesh. Hence, the school and universities do not prepare students for entrepreneurship oriented resulting in creative human capital also missing. The education system of a country provides the skilled human capital required by employers. So, to make skilled human capital, practical work should be added to higher studies. The infrastructure for extracurricular activities could be increased. So, the students will get real-life experience.

Finance - weakness

Finance is the second most important component of entrepreneurial ecosystem considered by the entrepreneurs (31%). Naturally the startups are high cost and low revenue business in their early stage. Startups always require investment until it reaches growth and mature phase. The financial support system for entrepreneurs does not seem to be supportive for the establishment of startup e-commerce. Findings showed that most of the companies (66%) raised funding from their friends and family. The findings of the current study agree with the findings of Elston et al. (2015) who studied the role of informal capital on new venture formation and growth in China. Their findings suggested that the new venture will prefer informal capital over formal capital. According to the survey findings, it seems that debt financing, government grants do not perform relatively well. On the other hand, equity, angel investor does not seem to offer sufficient support to startup entrepreneurs in the e-commerce sector in Bangladesh. Survey findings also reveal that most of the organizations seek additional funding immediately which shows that the urgent need for funding.

Policy environment and government support - weakness

The policy of the country does not fully favor the entrepreneurs in establishing the startup ecommerce. Survey findings show that the tax administration and tax rate are the main obstacles to start the business. Regarding tax rate, 70% entrepreneurs find it not suitable for the startups business that may result demotivating them from starting business. In the beginning of company life, high tax rates may reduce the profits and fail the startups. On the other hand, entrepreneurs (48%) find starting a business expensive. Regulations of the country increase the cost of starting a business resulting in lower profits, therefore making startups less attractive to entrepreneurs. 48% entrepreneurs find it expensive to complete the required procedures to start a business that can divert them from spending money on other productive work. Having a license and permits easily encourages entrepreneurs for business. Around half of the entrepreneurs claim obtaining a license and permits hinders the startup a businesses. More than half of entrepreneurs referred that financial support from the government does not fulfill their expectations.

Infrastructure - weakness

The most needed aspect of infrastructure for startup e-commerce entrepreneurs is the internet. The survey findings show that the internet is the major weakness in infrastructure. According to digital quality of life index 2021, Bangladesh has the worst mobile internet speed among 110 countries where Bangladesh ranks 103rd. Transportation is an inevitable part of an e-commerce business as the transportation system makes it possible to reach the customers with the orders on behalf of a business. The transportation system impacts greatly on expanding e-commerce. However, the findings show an adverse scenario regarding transportation. Around 75% entrepreneurs claim that transportation is an obstacle for e-commerce business. Delivery channel services hinder entrepreneurs from running the business smoothly.

Market - strength

Survey findings suggest that there is potential in the market for startup e-commerce to scale up the business. According to survey findings, the size of the market favors entrepreneurs to establish business in the e-commerce sector. Around 25% entrepreneurs found the size of the market favor them to grow followed by 30% found minor obstacle. To grow widely, entrepreneurs need to pierce in foreign markets (Rudeloff at el. 2021) the study reveals that entrepreneurs (50%) can get access to international markets with some minor obstacles followed by other half found it difficult to enter the international market.

R&D – weakness

From the aspect of R&D, it does not seem to be in line with the establishment of startup businesses. Survey findings also show that the collaboration between the business and the university for R&D does not exist. Lack of research and development forces entrepreneurs to replicate the ideas from another country which might not bring the same results regarding business being successful. BINH et al. (2020) who studied the effect of R&D expenditure on firm output evidence from Vietnam have confirmed that the expenditure on R&D increased the firm output. The current study shows a lack of research and development activities. Around 35% entrepreneurs claim that there is no R&D collaboration between business and university, followed by 30% claim there is little R&D collaboration between business and university.

Challenges and opportunities

Successful entrepreneurial ecosystems are talent magnets. Entrepreneurs need to retain, attract and constantly cultivate the best talents in their companies. This also involves potential employers and entrepreneurs (Bischoff, Volkmann 2018). According to Karim et al. (2018), start-ups are more critical of surviving because of lack of funding or investors. Survey findings emphasized that the main challenges entrepreneurs face are lack of funding and skilled human capital. Lack of skillful human capital is another major pitfall for e-commerce startup entrepreneurs. The entrepreneurs find it difficult to recruit the right employees with knowledge and qualifications. There are many other challenges found in the survey such as government policy and regulations, lack of financing and government grants. Transportation is also an obstacle in growing the e-commerce sector. More specifically regarding transportation, the entrepreneurs mean the delivery channel for the product supply and delivery. The entrepreneurs still need to rely on a few traditional delivery channels. According to entrepreneurs, there is no swift delivery right now. Having said that there are many obstacles but there is also an opportunity to gear up the e-commerce sector. It is worth mentioning that the survey findings uncovered the market as a big opportunity for the e-commerce sector in Bangladesh.

Government role

The role of government directly impacts the functioning of business activities as there are various laws and regulations which must be followed by the Entrepreneurs in order to stay away from any conflicts and issues (Drori, Wright 2018). The government of Bangladesh has taken new initiative by giving commitment and making changes in E-Commerce business. There are various roles and support which is played by government in subsidy, innovating direction, standard setting objectives, improved infrastructure, and privacy. Survey findings reveal that the government role is not satisfactory level according to the entrepreneurs in the e-commerce sector in Bangladesh. Entrepreneurs across the country find tax administration disadvantageous to business. Findings also show that the technological infrastructures e.g., internet, mobile network and so on, hinder the local e-commerce sector from competing globally. Laws and regulations set by the government are currently unfavorable to the e-commerce sector in Bangladesh and this often leads to a complex situation in handling the organization.

The researcher makes the following recommendations:

Efforts need to take from many levels to ensure the advancement of entrepreneurial ecosystem conditions in the e-commerce sector in Bangladesh, for example.

- Improvement concerning access to finance can be solved by making an alternative funding tool for startups. Where different entities can join and enjoy the profit or return on equity, such as individuals, banking organizations, private financial organizations,
- The government needs to form an exclusive startup policy that will offer multiple benefits to the startup entrepreneurs. The interest rate and conditions to get debt finance should be brought within the reach of entrepreneurs.
- Getting business permits and licensing must be made easier. One of the steps can be getting the permits and licensing via online and that will save their invaluable time and money.
- From the perspective of infrastructure, internet quality and speed need to improve. As for ecommerce business, the internet plays a vital role in running the business. Delivery infrastructure and services should be made without any informal payment. Using an online platform could be a solution.
- In Bangladesh most of the buyers (95%) pay cash on delivery, the rest 5% is made through credit or debit cards, banking channels and or mobile banking channels Muhammad Z. I. 2015). For the domestic market, online payment must be made available, bringing more people to get the online banking system used. Here, the central bank might play an important role in asking the private and public banks to motivate the customers to use more debit and credit cards. To pierce into the international market, the government should make a policy for international payment gateway. In case of order cancellation for international payment, the entrepreneurs find it difficult to return the money because of bureaucratic system set by the central bank.
- Using technology and fintech platforms can make the tax payment secure and seamless. In addition, this will make the tax administration less bureaucratic. Tax exemption or rebate can be another option to ease the tax burden at the beginning of the establishment of the company. Also, making different tax rates at different phases of company lifetime can encourage more entrepreneurs.

- The government needs to ensure that the environment helps investors to invest in the startup. They must feel secure, and barriers should be limited for foreign investors to invest in the startup. The government may bring required changes to the Foreign Exchange Regulations Act 1947 that can motivate foreign investors to invest in the e-commerce sector.
- To nurture innovation and talents, infrastructure at colleges and universities need to be improved. The related ministry and authorities can gather knowledge on entrepreneurial studies and skill building activities at the university level visiting other countries where entrepreneurship is taught as a priority at the university level. To promote culture of innovative entrepreneurial mindset among the students, the entrepreneurial universities need to increase their expenditure on research and development.
- Business incubators can play a vital role for nascent startup companies in their early stage by providing them with advice, funding, and mentors. For example, they can provide startup access to finance with seed funding, coaching them with expertise in their early stage.
- If the students learn how to start a business at the colleges or university level that may increase the probability of being an entrepreneur. So, the education system of Bangladesh should lead in providing the skills to foster entrepreneurship. Entrepreneurship programs at the university level can be offered to all the students irrespective of their study background.
- Some special courses at college and university level can be offered to those who do not have any entrepreneurial skills and would like to become an entrepreneur.
- Universities can organize competitions for the students to bring their new startup ideas and present it therefore the top selected ideas can be recommended to the public and private financial support organization to get financial support.
- The entrepreneurs may find finance or other entrepreneurial ecosystem components a problem for them. Therefore, consultation for startup entrepreneurs can be formed publicly or privately to provide the entrepreneurs with consultation on the actual problems they are facing.
- Normally the commercial bank does not invest in high-risk organizations. So, the central bank
 might keep separate funds for startups loans that can be disbursed by the commercial banks
 and can use the certificate of entrepreneurs as collateral. They might also give the
 entrepreneurs a grace period to repay the loan that can ease the entrepreneurs and concentrate
 on the business.

CONCLUSION

The research aim of the thesis is to determine the strengths and weaknesses of the startup entrepreneurial ecosystem in the E-commerce sector in Bangladesh. For this purpose, the author has made an extensive study of the elements of entrepreneurial ecosystem model targeting the startup entrepreneurs in e-commerce sector in Bangladesh. Leadership, markets, human capital, research and development, financing, support services, infrastructure, policy and regulatory framework, and culture of entrepreneurial ecosystem components were investigated in the study. Within the nine components, a few subcategories were distinguished to widen the general structure and make it more straightforward for investigation.

A total of 35 questions have been used in this data analysis, which has been divided into three sections. Total 125 responses were received from the startup entrepreneurs in the e-commerce sector in Bangladesh. The sample comprised of 44% of the responses submitted by entrepreneurs having experience of 0-1 year, 36% having 2-5 years, 12% having 6-10 and 8% have more than 10 years.

To fulfil the aim, the following research questions have been discussed:

- 1. What are the components of the entrepreneurial ecosystem for start-ups in the e-commerce sector in Bangladesh?
- 2. What are the ecosystem-related opportunities available for entrepreneurs while starting a new venture in Bangladesh?
- 3. What are the ecosystem-related challenges faced by entrepreneurs while starting a new venture in Bangladesh?
- 4. What is the role of the government for start-ups in the e-commerce sector in Bangladesh?

From the study, it can be concluded that the important elements of the entrepreneurial ecosystem for startups in the e-commerce sector in Bangladesh are culture, policy, markets, human capital, finance. Several factors, including leadership and culture, the size and significance of the organization, and the maturity of the organization all played a role in the dismantling of entrepreneurial ecosystem into numerous subordinate organizations.

According to the primary data, it is being found that there are various opportunities that can be gained by startup entrepreneurs while starting a business in e-commerce sector in Bangladesh. The ecommerce company may have access to a huge market and new customers which can help in increasing the profitability and growth of the business. It is important to identify the target market so that they can know the customer and the area in which products and services must be offered. The entrepreneurs can also increase their customer base by developing products and services to its customers as compared to competitors. They can also attract a large number of consumers in a new market of E-commerce business by developing goods and services through research and development.

As per the analysis of primary data, it is identified that there are several challenges that are associated with establishing a new startup e-commerce in the Bangladesh market. The problems that entrepreneurs face can reduce their morale and motivation level to set e-commerce businesses in Bangladesh. Investment is one of the major problems that can affect the functioning of business activities. In order to start the e-commerce business, it is necessary to identify the investors by attracting and providing them with the detailed structure of the business so that they can invest in the business and provide the required funds. Another challenge that must be addressed by entrepreneurs is to understand the laws and legislation of Bangladesh so that organizations do not face problems and run their businesses smoothly. Entrepreneurs must also focus on maintaining healthy relations with local companies who are already in the business for long run that can help in making them familiar with local culture to attract people and provide information about their products and services.

The government plays vital role in subsidy, innovating direction, standard setting objectives, improved infrastructure, and policy for startup entrepreneurs to start their new business in e-commerce sector in Bangladesh. There are various legislation and regulations which are framed by Bangladesh government in order to establish and run the startup business. Bangladesh government is focusing on boosting the start-up companies so that they can set their venture and bring their new ideas in fulfilling the need and requirement of customers. The role of government directly impacts the functioning of business activities as there are various laws and regulations which must be followed by the entrepreneurs in order to stay away from any conflicts and issues.

From the findings, it has been seen that overall entrepreneurial ecosystem of Bangladesh is not at satisfactory level to the entrepreneurs. To develop this startup entrepreneurial ecosystem, the author has made recommendations that include government, banks, colleges universities and other relate groups. The government must take the necessary steps to attract new startup entrepreneurs, for example, tax cuts, startup-friendly laws and legislation, less bureaucracy and cost to start a business. The other step could be developing the infrastructure; the quality of the mobile network, the speed of the internet, transportation, and utilities should be developed. In college and university, the study of

entrepreneurship should be included in the syllabus. So, the process of being an entrepreneur can start while studying.

Overall, the major findings of this thesis uncover that the enterprising soul in Bangladesh is high. The business environment challenges hindering e-commerce entrepreneurs are identified with the public policy, program and projects, where entrepreneurs indicate the regulatory framework towards new startup creation is bureaucratic, tedious and costly. Tax rate is felt to be high. Access to finance is generally reliant upon self-financing or utilizing friends and family support. Banks abstain from financing e-commerce. E-commerce entrepreneurs have a positive attitude towards internationalization, however, facing difficulties in having access to enough knowledge and contacts and so on. Last, the education framework in Bangladesh needs to rebuild to stimulate entrepreneurial mindset among youngsters as well as provide entrepreneurial knowledge and skill to young entrepreneurs through its universities, colleges.

There are some limitations of the study. First, the study was done only in the e-commerce sector. Second, the sample size used in the study may not be representative of the total population. The online survey questionnaire is used in this study, which may not be comprehensive to some extent to respondents. The respondents might get the clarification of any doubt about the questionnaire if it was done through interviews. It would be interesting to explore in future in different sectors emphasizing a couple of entrepreneurial ecosystem components.

REFERENCES

- Acs, Z. J., Stam, E., Audretsch, D. B., & O'Connor, A. (2017). The lineages of the entrepreneurial ecosystem approach. *Small Business Economics*, 49(1), 1-10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11187-017-9864-8</u>.
- Adhikary, B. K., Kutsuna, K., & Hoda, T. (2018). Crowdfunding potential in developing countries—A case of Bangladesh. In *Crowdfunding* (pp. 77-94). Springer, Singapore.
- Akter, B., & Iqbal, A. (2019). Educational Entrepreneurship: A New Dimension of Creating Entrepreneurial Ecosystem. <u>http://library.ediindia.ac.in:8181/xmlui//handle/123456789/7933</u>
- Anokhin, S., Chistyakova, N., Antonova, I., Spitsina, L., Wincent, J., & Parida, V. (2021). Flagship enterprises, entrepreneurial clusters, and business entry rates: insights from the knowledge spillover theory of entrepreneurship. *Entrepreneurship & Regional Development*, 33(3-4), 353-367.
- Assmann, D., & Ehrl, P. (2021). Individualistic culture and entrepreneurial opportunities. *Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization*, 188, 1248-1268.
- Aspen Network of Development Entrepreneurs (ANDE). Entrepreneurial Ecosystem Diagnostic Toolkit. Aspen Network of Development Entrepreneurs (2013)
- Audretsch, D. B., & Belitski, M. (2021). A strategic alignment framework for the entrepreneurial university. *Industry and Innovation*, 1-25.
- Babii, A. (2020). Important aspects of the experimental research methodology. *Вісник Тернопільського національного технічного університету*, 97(1), 77-87.
- Babu, M. M., Dey, B. L., Rahman, M., Roy, S. K., Alwi, S. F. S., & Kamal, M. M. (2020). Value co-creation through social innovation: A study of sustainable strategic alliance in telecommunication and financial services sectors in Bangladesh. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 89, 13-27.
- Bairagi, V., & Munot, M. V. (Eds.). (2019). Research methodology: A practical and scientific approach. CRC Press.
- Barreto, I. (2010). Dynamic capabilities: A review of past research and an agenda for the future. Journal of Management, 36(1), 256-280.
- Bathelt, H., Malmberg, A., & Maskell, P. (2004). Clusters and knowledge: local buzz, global pipelines and the process of knowledge creation. *Progress in human geography*, 28(1), 31-56.

- Bendickson, J. S., Irwin, J. G., Cowden, B. J., & McDowell, W. C. (2021). Entrepreneurial ecosystem knowledge spillover in the face of institutional voids: groups, issues, and actions. *Knowledge Management Research & Practice*, 19(1), 117-126.
- BINH, Q. M. Q., & TUNG, L. T. (2020). The Effect of R&D Expenditure on Firm Output: Empirical Evidence from Vietnam. *The Journal of Asian Finance, Economics, and Business*, 7(6), 379-385.
- Birkinshaw, J., Zimmermann, A., & Raisch, S. (2016). How do firms adapt to discontinuous change? Bridging the dynamic capabilities and ambidexterity perspectives. *California Management Review*, 58(4), 36-58.
- Bischoff, K., & Volkmann, C. K. (2018). Stakeholder support for sustainable entrepreneurship-a framework of sustainable entrepreneurial ecosystems. *International Journal of Entrepreneurial Venturing*, *10*(2), 172-201.
- Bischoff, K. (2021). A study on the perceived strength of sustainable entrepreneurial ecosystems on the dimensions of stakeholder theory and culture. *Small Business Economics*, *56*(3), 1121-1140.
- Boggati, S.P., & Halgin, D.S. (2011). On network theory. Organization Science, 22(5), 1168-1181.
- Borissenko, Y., & Boschma, R. (2016). A critical review of entrepreneurial ecosystems: Towards a future research agenda. *Papers in Evolutionary Geography*, 1-21.
- Broad, G., & Ortiz, J. (2020). Social Entrepreneurial Ecosystem: Sparking Social Transformation. *Canadian Journal of Nonprofit and Social Economy Research*, 11(1), 14-14.
- Case, S., & Harris, D. (2012). The startup uprising: Eighteen months of the startup America parternship. Ewing Marion Kauffman Foundation, 1-49.
- Cavallo, A., Ghezzi, A., & Balocco, R. (2019). Entrepreneurial ecosystem research: Present debates and future directions. *International Entrepreneurship and Management Journal*, 15(4), 1291-1321.
- Chapman, O. (2021). Relationship Between Entrepreneurial Orientation and the Intention to Pursue Digital Entrepreneurship: Opportunity Evaluation in Small and Medium-Sized Enterprises (Doctoral dissertation, The University of North Carolina at Charlotte).
- Cho, S., Sultana, R., & Kwon, S. (2019). Social enterprise and sustainable development in Bangladesh and Korea: Opportunities and challenges. *Asian Social Work and Policy Review*, 13(2), 189-19
- Cohen, S., & Hochberg, Y.V. (2014). Accelerating Startups: The Seed Accelerator phenomenon. SSRN Electron. J. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2418000

- Collis, D. J., & Anand, B. N. (2018). The Limitations of Dynamic Capabilities. *Harvard Business* School Strategy Unit Working Paper, (20-029).
- Crespo, N.F., Simões, V.C. and Fontes, M. (2021). Uncovering the factors behind new ventures' international performance: Capabilities, alertness and technological turbulence. *European Management Journal*.
- Cunha, C., Kastenholz, E., & Carneiro, M. J. (2020). Entrepreneurs in rural tourism: Do lifestyle motivations contribute to management practices that enhance sustainable entrepreneurial ecosystems? *Journal of hospitality and tourism management*, *44*, 215-226.
- Dai, S., Xue, H., Jiang, Y., Zhang, W., & Zhang, X. (2018). Sustainable entrepreneurship team scale development: A complex systems perspective. *Sustainability*, 10(11), 4199.
- d'Andria, A., & Gabarret, I. (2017). *Building 21st century entrepreneurship* (Vol. 2). John Wiley & Sons.
- Del Giudice, M., Nicotra, M., Romano, M., & Schillaci, C. E. (2017). Entrepreneurial performance of principal investigators and country culture: relations and influences. *The Journal of Technology Transfer*, 42(2), 320-337.
- Dhar, S., & Farzana, T. (2017). Entrepreneurship for Persons with Disabilities in Bangladesh: An Analysis of the Schools of Entrepreneurial Thought Approach. *Journal of Economics & Business Research*, 23(2).
- DiVito, L., & Ingen-Housz, Z. (2021). From individual sustainability orientations to collective sustainability innovation and sustainable entrepreneurial ecosystems. *Small Business Economics*. 56(3).1057-1072.
- Drori, I., & Wright, M. (2018). Accelerators: Characteristics, trends and the new entrepreneurial ecosystem. In *Accelerators*. Edward Elgar Publishing.
- Eisenhardt, K., & Martin, J. (2000). Dynamic capability: What are they? Strategic Management Journal, 21, 1105-1121.
- Elston, J. A., Chen, S., & Weidinger, A. (2016). The role of informal capital on new venture formation and growth in China. *Small Business Economics*,46 (1), 79-91.
- Essel, B. K. C., Adams, F., & Amankwah, K. (2019). Effect of entrepreneur, firm, and institutional characteristics on small-scale firm performance in Ghana. *Journal of Global Entrepreneurship Research*, 9(1), 1-20.
- Guerrero, M., Liñán, F., & Cáceres-Carrasco, F. R. (2021). The influence of ecosystems on the entrepreneurship process: a comparison across developed and developing economies. *Small Business Economics57(4)*.1733-1759.

- Hoque, S. F., Quinn, C. H., & Sallu, S. M. (2017). Resilience, political ecology, and well-being: an interdisciplinary approach to understanding social-ecological change in coastal Bangladesh. *Ecology and Society*, 22(2).
- Hoque, M. F., Zaman, A., & Bose, T. K. (2021). Why exporting is still the main international business mode from emerging economies? Evidence from institutional perspectives on the exporting RMG sector of Bangladesh. *International Journal of Export Marketing*, 4(2), 178-204.
- Hossain, M. I., San, O. T., Ling, S. M., & Said, R. M. (2020). The Role of Environmental Awareness and Green Technological Usage to Foster Sustainable Green Practices in Bangladeshi Manufacturing SMEs. *International Journal of Advanced Science and Technology*, 29(7s), 3115-3124.
- Hussain, M. G., Failler, P., Karim, A. A., & Alam, M. K. (2018). Major opportunities of blue economy development in Bangladesh. *Journal of the Indian Ocean Region*, 14(1), 88-99.
- https://www.gemconsortium.org/economy-profiles/bangladesh
- Iansiti, M., & Levien, R. (2004). Strategy as ecology. Harvard business review, 82(3), 68-78.
- Isenberg, D. J. (2010). How to start an entrepreneurial revolution. *Harvard business review*, 88(6), 40-50.
- Jacobides, M. G., Cennamo, C., & Gawer, A. (2018). Towards a theory of ecosystems. Strategic Management Journal, 39(8), 2255–2276. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/smj.2904</u>.
- Jennen, T., Rigby, C., & Allum, J. (2016). Stakeholder Engagement in the creation of an entrepreneurial ecosystem. *Journal of Asia Entrepreneurship and Sustainability*, 12(1), 3.
- Jim-Suleiman, S., Ibiamke, A., & Fenan, N. V. (2021). A Review of Literature on the Concept, Motivations and Factors affecting the Successes of Veteran Entrepreneurs. *European Journal of Accounting, Auditing and Finance Research*, 9(4), 42-51.
- Assel, K. J., & POTLURI, R. M. (2020). An Exploratory Research on Entrepreneurial Ecosystems: Effects on Economic Integration. *The Journal of Asian Finance, Economics, and Business*, 7(8).661-670.
- Kanu, I. A. (2019). Igwebuike research methodology: A new trend for scientific and holistic investigation. *IGWEBUIKE: An African Journal of Arts and Humanities*, 95-105.
- Karim, I. U., Khurshid, I. N., & Huq, S. N. (2018). Critical success factors of tech-based disruptive startup ecosystem in Bangladesh. *Journal of Entrepreneurship & Management*, 7(2), 7-27.

- Khaled, M. C. (2020). Lacking entrepreneurship and small business thrust in business education in developing countries: case of Bangladesh. *Business Perspective Review*, 2(1), 61-76.
- Khyareh, M. M., Khairandish, M., & Torabi, H. (2019). Macroeconomic effects of entrepreneurship: Evidences from factor, efficiency and innovation driven countries. *International Journal of Entrepreneurship*, 23(1), 1-21.
- Kuckertz, A. (2019). Let's take the entrepreneurial ecosystem metaphor seriously!. *Journal of Business Venturing Insights*, 11, e00124.
- Lange, G.S. and Johnston, W.J. (2020), "The value of business accelerators and incubators an entrepreneur's perspective", *Journal of Business & Industrial Marketing*, Vol. 35 No. 10, pp. 1563-1572. https://doi.org/10.1108/JBIM-01-2019-0024
- Lillis, M.P. (2021). The Evocation of Entrepreneurial Intentions: A Conceptual Model of the Entrepreneurship Process. The BRC Academy Journal of Business Vol. 11, No. 1.87-119 https://dx.doi.org/10.15239/j.brcacadjb.2021.11.01.ja04.
- Lin, Nan. & Burt, Ronald S. & Cook, Karen S. (2001). *Social capital: theory and research*. New York: Aldine de Gruyter.
- Luvizan, S. S., Nascimento, P. T., & Yu, A. (2016, September). Big Data for innovation: The case of credit evaluation using mobile data analyzed by innovation ecosystem lens. In 2016 Portland International Conference on Management of Engineering and Technology (PICMET) (pp. 925-936). IEEE.
- Malecki, E. J. (2018). Entrepreneurship and entrepreneurial ecosystems. Geography Compass, 12(3), e12359. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/gec3.12359</u>.
- Malecki, E.J. (2018), "Entrepreneurs, Networks, and Economic Development: A Review of Recent Research", Katz, J.A. and Corbett, A.C. (Ed.) *Reflections and Extensions on Key Papers of* the First Twenty-Five Years of Advances (Advances in Entrepreneurship, Firm Emergence and Growth, Vol. 20), Emerald Publishing Limited, Bingley, 71- 116. https://doi.org/10.1108/S1074-754020180000020010
- Marks, J., & Batev, T. (2021). Temporal Mediation of Uncertainty within Entrepreneurial Opportunity Evaluation. *Journal of Developmental Entrepreneurship*, 2150007.
- McKague, K., Wong, J., & Siddiquee, N. (2017). Social franchising as rural entrepreneurial ecosystem development: The case of Krishi Utsho in Bangladesh. *The International Journal of Entrepreneurship and Innovation*, 18(1), 47-56.
- Mishra, S. B., & Alok, S. (2017). Handbook of research methodology. Educreation,
- Moore, J. F. (1993). Predators and prey: a new ecology of competition. *Harvard business review*, 71(3), 75-86.

- Mottalib, M. A., Hossain, M. A., Hossain, M. I., Amin, M. N., Alam, M. M., & Saha, C. K. (2019). Assessment of cost-benefit parameters of conservation agricultural machinery for custom hires entrepreneurship in the southern region of Bangladesh. *Agricultural Engineering International: CIGR Journal*, 21(3), 94-103.
- Muhammad, Z. I. (2015, September 17). Retrieved from www.thedailystar.net: https://www.thedailystar.net/business/growth-e-commerce-driven-youth-144280
- Nayak, J. K., & Singh, P. (2021). Fundamentals of Research Methodology Problems and Prospects. SSDN Publishers & Distributors.
- Neck, H.M., Meyer, G.D., Cohen, B., & Corbett, A.C. (2004). An entrepreneurial system view of new venture creation. Journal of Small Business Management, 42(2), 190-208.
- Nelson, R. R., & Winter, S. G. (1982). An evolutionary theory of economic change, Belknap Press of Harvard University Press, Cambridge, MA.
- Neneh, B. N. (2019). From entrepreneurial intentions to behavior: The role of anticipated regret and proactive personality. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, *112*, 311-324.
- Newey, L. R., & Zahra, S. A. (2009). The evolving firm: How dynamic and operating capabilities interact to enable entrepreneurship. *British Journal of Management*, *20*, S81-S100.
- Newman, M., & Gough, D. (2020). Systematic reviews in educational research: Methodology, perspectives and application. *Systematic reviews in educational research*, 3-22.
- Nwafidelie, N. M. (2021). Is Finnish Women Entrepreneurs Motivation driven by Necessity or Opportunity?
- Parrish, B. D., & Tilley, F. (2016). Sustainability entrepreneurship: charting a field in emergence. In Making Ecopreneurs (pp. 41-62). Routledge.
- Rahman, M. M., Islam, M. A., Haque, S. M., & Wahab, A. (2017). Mud crab aquaculture and fisheries in coastal Bangladesh. *World Aquaculture*, 48(2), 47-52.
- Rana, M. B., Allen, M. M., & Servais, P. (2021). Supplier internationalization in the global apparel value chain from Bangladesh to Ethiopia: the buyers business model, institutions and entrepreneurial capability. In *Upgrading the Global Garment Industry*. Edward Elgar Publishing.
- Ratten, V. (2020). Coronavirus and international business: An entrepreneurial ecosystem perspective. *Thunderbird International Business Review*, 62(5), 629-634.
- Roundy, P.T. (2017). "Small town" entrepreneurial ecosystems: implications for developed and emerging economies. Journal of Entrepreneurship in Emerging Economies, 9(3), 238-262.

- Rua, O., França, A., & Ortiz, R. F. (2018). Key drivers of SMEs export performance: the mediating effect of competitive advantage. *Journal of Knowledge Management*. 22(2), 257-279.
- Rudeloff, C., Pakura, S., Eggers, F., & Niemand, T. (2021). It takes two to tango: the interplay between decision logics, communication strategies and social media engagement in startups. *Review of Managerial Science*, 1-32.
- Säfsten, K., & Gustavsson, M. (2020). Research methodology: for engineers and other problemsolvers.
- Sankaran, K., & Demangeot, C. (2017). Conceptualizing virtual communities as enablers of community-based entrepreneurship and resilience. *Journal of Enterprising Communities: People and Places in the Global Economy.*, Vol. 11 No. 1. 78-94. https://doi.org/10.1108/JEC-02-2015-0017
- Shinnar, R. S., & Zamantılı Nayır, D. (2019). Immigrant entrepreneurship in an emerging economy: The case of Turkey. *Journal of Small Business Management*, 57(2), 559-575.
- Song, A. K. (2019). The Digital Entrepreneurial Ecosystem—a critique and reconfiguration. *Small Business Economics*, *53*(3), 569-590.
- Spigel, B. (2016). Developing and governing entrepreneurial ecosystems: the structure of entrepreneurial support programs in Edinburgh, Scotland. *International Journal of Innovation and Regional Development*, 7(2), 141-160.
- Spigel, B., & Vinodrai, T. (2021). Meeting its Waterloo? Recycling in entrepreneurial ecosystems after anchor firm collapse. *Entrepreneurship & Regional Development*, 1-22.
- Stam, F. C., & Spigel, B. (2016). Entrepreneurial ecosystems. USE Discussion paper series, 16(13).
- Stam, E., & Welter, F. (2020). Geographical contexts of entrepreneurship: Spaces, places and entrepreneurial agency (No. 04/20). Working Paper.
- Tansley, A. G. (1935). The use and abuse of vegetational concepts and terms. Ecology, 16(3), 284–307. https://doi.org/10.2307/1930070.
- Teece, D. J., Pisano, G., & Shuen, A. (1997). Dynamic capabilities and strategic management. Strategic Management Journal, 18(7), 509-533.
- Teece, D. J. (2007). Explicating dynamic capabilities: the nature and micro foundations of (sustainable) enterprise performance. *Strategic management journal*, *28*(13), 1319-1350.
- Hoon, T. S., & Singh, P. (2019). A Practice in a Research Methodology Class. *Asian Journal of University Education*, 15(3), 45-53.

- Ter Wal, A. L., Alexy, O., Block, J., & Sandner, P. G. (2016). The best of both worlds: The benefits of open-specialized and closed-diverse syndication networks for new ventures' success. *Administrative science quarterly*, *61*(3), 393-432.
- TerjeSen, S. A. (2016). Conditions for high-potential female entrepreneurship. IZA World of Labor.
- Theodoraki, C., & Messeghem, K. (2017). Exploring the entrepreneurial ecosystem in the field of entrepreneurial support: a multi-level approach. *International Journal of Entrepreneurship and Small Business*, 31(1), 47-66.
- Thorsteinsdóttir, H. (2020). Status of research on entrepreneurship and SME development in least developed countries.
- Thorsteinsdottir, H., Bell, J. M., & Bandypadhyay, N. (2021). Final technical report-access to finance for SMEs in least developed countries: focus on technology-based firms and women-led SMEs.
- Tunio, M. N. (2020). Academic entrepreneurship in developing countries: contextualizing recent debate. *Research Handbook on Entrepreneurship in Emerging Economies*.
- Umurhohwo, D. (2020). Innovation in Africa: Fuelling an Entrepreneurial Ecosystem for Growth and Prosperity. Routledge.
- Ur Rehman, Z., Ahmed, D., Ali, D., Ahmad, S., Khattak, A., & Sameer, I. (2020). Entrepreneurial Factors Affecting Perceived Socioeconomic Success in One Belt One Road Initiative–A Study of China-Pakistan Economic Corridor. *International Journal of Management*, 11(9).
- Wagner, M., Schaltegger, S., Hansen, E. G., & Fichter, K (2021). University-linked programmes for sustainable entrepreneurship and regional development: how and with what impact? *Small Business Economics*, 56(3), pp.1141-1158.

World Economic Forum (WEF). (2013): Entrepreneurial Ecosystems Around the Globe and Company Growth Dynamics. Report Summary for the Annual Meeting of the New Champions 2013. <u>http://www3.weforum.org/docs/WEF</u> EntrepreneurialEcosystems Report 2013.pdf

Yavuz, R. I. (2021). Founders' education, social capital, and their interplay in the intensity of newventure internationalization. *Journal of Small Business Management*, 1-37.

Appendix 1. Questionnaire

THE CHARACTERISTICS OF THE START-UP ENTREPRENEURIAL ECOSYSTEM IN THE E-COMMERCE SECTOR IN BANGLADESH

This survey questionnaire has been developed by Md Sahadat Hossain, who is a student of MBA at TALTECH. Please spend a few minutes and complete this questionnaire. I assure you that all your answers will be used only for research purposes and responses to the questionnaire will be kept anonymous. The purpose of this survey is to determine the strengths and weaknesses of the startup entrepreneurial ecosystem in the E-commerce sector in Bangladesh. I kindly request you to offer your opinions on the following questions to complete my thesis. Your response to all the questions will be appreciated. This survey will only take about 7-10 minutes

I. Demographic Information

- 1. Age: < 21/21-30/31-40/41-50/above 51
- 2. Gender: M/F/other
- 3. Education: SSC / HSC/Graduate/Postgraduate/
- 4. Type of firm (Select One): ____ Manufacturing ____ Services
- 5. Number of Employees (Number):
- 6. Yearly Turnover.....
- 7. Years of entrepreneurial experience: 0-1 year/2-5/6-10/ more than10 years
- 8. Sector (Select One): (Add/Remove Sectors if necessary)
- o Food
- o Tobacco
- o Textiles
- o Garments
- o Leather
- o Wood
- o Paper
- o Publishing (Print and Recorded Media)
- o Refined Petroleum Products
- o Chemicals
- o Plastics and Rubber
- o Non-metallic Mineral Products
- o Basic Metals
- o Fabricated Metal Products
- o Machinery and Equipment
- o Electronics
- o Precision Instruments
- o Transport Machines
- o Furniture

o Recycling

o Retail

o Wholesale

o Information and Communication Technology

o Hotel and Restaurant

- o Service of Motor Vehicles
- o Construction
- o Transport

o Miscellaneous

 Legal Status (Select One): (use locally relevant classifications) o Corporation o Limited Liability Company o........

10. Year founded (Date):/...../

II. Entrepreneurial Perceptions of the Ecosystem

11. How important are following the components of entrepreneurial ecosystem for your company?

	1.Not importan t at all	2.Somewhat important	3.Neither important nor unimportant	4.important	5.Very important	Don't know
Policy						
Culture						
Human capital						
Support						
system						
Finance						
Market						
Leadership						
and active						
network of						
companies						
R & D						
Infrastructure						
Other						

If you selected other, please specify what you mean?

	1.Not	2.Somewha	3.Neither	4.satisfied	5.Totally	Don't know
	satisfied	t satisfied	satisfied		satisfied	
	at all		nor			
			dissatisfied			
Effective tax						
rate						
Financial						
support to						
startups						
Cost to start a						
business						
Time to start a						
business						
Cost to close a						
business						
Other						

12. How satisfied are you with the quality of services and support provided by the government?

13. To what degree are the following elements of the policy environment an obstacle to the current operations of your company?

	1.No obstacle	2.Minor obstacle	3.Moderate obstacle	4.Major obstacle	5.Severe obstacle	6.Don't know
Obtaining business licensing and Permits						
Following Customs and Trade Regulations						
Labour Regulations						
Tax Administration						

Tax Rates			
Other			

- 14. Which changes should be undertaken in the current **policy set by the government** to boost start-ups in Bangladesh?
- 15. Which sources of financing are available to the e-commerce start-up entrepreneurs of Bangladesh?

	1.Strongly	2.Somewhat	3.Neither	4.agree	5.Strongly	Don't know
	disagree	Disagree	agree nor disagree		agree	
Micro debts						
Angel investors						
Friends and family						
Private equity						
Debts						
Public capital markets						
Venture capital funds						
Other						

If you selected other, please specify what you mean.....

16. To what degree are the following elements of financing an obstacle to the current operation of your company?

1.No	2.Minor	3.Moderate	4.Major	5.Severe	6.Don't
obstacle	obstacle	obstacle	obstacle	obstacle	know

Access to debt finance			
Access to equity finance			
Access to grants			
Other			

17. How satisfied are you with the quality and availability of business support services?

	1.Not satisfied at all	2.Somewha t satisfied	3.Neither satisfied nor	4.satisfied	5.Totally satisfied	Don't know
	ut un		dissatisfied			
Legal						
Accounting incubation						
Private equity						
Transportatio n and logistics						
Energy						
Entrepreneur friendly association						
Other						

If you selected Other, please specify what you mean ...

18. How satisfied are you with the quality and availability of educational service?

	1.Not satisfied at all	2.Somewh at satisfied	3.Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied	4.satisfied	5.Totally satisfied	Don't know
Education						
Employability of graduates						
Entrepreneursh ip education						
Business schools						
Other						

19. To what degree are the following elements of Human Capital an obstacle to current operations of your company?

	1.No obstacle	2.Minor obstacle	3.Moderate obstacle	4.Major obstacle	5.Severe obstacle	6.Don't know
Availability of top managers with the qualifications your business requires						
Adequately educated/ trained general workforce						
Availability of IT people with the qualifications your business requires						
Other						

	1.No obstacle	2.Minor obstacle	3.Moderate obstacle	4.Major obstacle	5.Severe obstacle	6.Don't know
Access to international markets						
Availability of market information						
Size of the market(domestic)						
Other						

20. To what degree are the following elements of the market an obstacle to the current operations of your company?

If you selected Other, please specify what you mean ...

- 21. Which changes should be undertaken in terms of the **market access** so that it would be easier to sell your products and services?
- 22. To what degree are the following elements of infrastructure an obstacle to current operations of your company?

	1.No	2.Minor	3.Moderate	4.Major	5.Severe	6.Don't
	obstacle	obstacle	obstacle	obstacle	obstacle	know
Electricity						
Telecom						
Internet						
Water						
Gas						
Transport						
Other						

	1.Not	2.Somewhat	3.Neither	4.satisfied	5.Totally	Don't
	satisfied	satisfied	satisfied nor		satisfied	know
	at all		dissatisfied			
Availability of						
internet access						
Availability of						
mobile						
networks						
Availability of						
connectivity						
services						
Other						

23. How satisfied are you with the following elements of infrastructure?

If you selected Other, please specify what you mean

24. How satisfied are you with the R& D a	activities available?
---	-----------------------

	1.Not	2.Somewha	3.Neither	4.satisfied	5.Totally	Don't know
	satisfied	t satisfied	satisfied		satisfied	
	at all		nor			
			dissatisfied			
R&D						
collaboration						
between						
businesses						
and						
university						
researchers						
Access to						
information						
Opportunity						
for						
knowledge						
and skill						
building						
Other						

25. Which changes should be undertaken to improve R&D cooperation for your company?

III Key Firm and Entrepreneur Indicators

Finance

26. During last year, how much equity financing did this firm obtain from all of these external sources?

Source	Amount	of	funding	Amount	of	funding	Equity	stake	(if
	sought			received			applicabl	e)	
Friends and family									
Angel investors									
Venture capital									
Government agencies									
Other companies									
Other									
None									

If you selected Other, please specify what you mean ...

27. During last year, how much debt financing did this firm obtain from all of these outside sources?

Source	Amount sought	of	funding	Amount received	of	funding	Equity applicable	stake e)	(if
Banks									
Microfinance institute									
Venture capital									
Other									
None									

If you selected Other, please specify what you mean ...

28. How much additional capital of the following kinds are you seeking?

Type of capital	Next 12 months (1 year)	Next 36 months (3 years)
Equity		
Debt		
Grants		
None		

Market and sales

29. What was this firm's profit margin (as a percentage of total investment) for last year

- a) Negative ROI (Loss)
- b) 0-5%
- c) 6-10%
- d) 11-15%
- e) 16-20%
- f) More than 20%
- g) Unsure
- h) N/A (e.g., nonprofit)

Human capital

30. Last year, how many permanent, full-time individuals worked in this firm?

31. In the year of founding, how many permanent, full-time individuals worked in this firm?

32. In the year of founding, how many temporary, full-time individuals worked in this firm?

.....

Infrastructure

33. Delivery of Infrastructure and Services:

Applied	for	Number	of	days	Informal gift/payment
connection/permit(Y	//N)	receive		а	expected or requested
		connectio	n/app	roval	

Electricity		
Telecom		
internet		
gas		
Water		
Construction permit		

R & D

34. Has your firm introduced any new or significantly improved products or services in the past 3 years? Please provide a brief description:

Business Support Services

- 35. Are you involved in this start-up to take advantage of a business opportunity or because you have no better choices for work?
- o Take advantage of business opportunity
- o No better choices for work
- o Combination of both of the above
- o Have a job but seek better opportunities
- o Other (Please specify)
- o Don't Know
 - 36. Which one of the following do you feel is the most important motive for pursuing this opportunity?
- o Greater independence o Increase personal income o Just to maintain income o Other (Please specify)...... o Don't Know

Appendix 2 Non-exclusive license

I Md Sahadat Hossain

1. Grant Tallinn University of Technology free license (non-exclusive license) for my thesis

The Characteristics of the Star-up Entrepreneurial Ecosystem in the E-commerce Sector in Bangladesh.

supervised by Merle Küttim, PhD.

1.1 to be reproduced for the purposes of preservation and electronic publication of the graduation thesis, incl. to be entered in the digital collection of the library of Tallinn University of Technology until expiry of the term of copyright;

1.2 to be published via the web of Tallinn University of Technology, incl. to be entered in the digital collection of the library of Tallinn University of Technology until expiry of the term of copyright.

2. I am aware that the author also retains the rights specified in clause 1 of the non-exclusive license.

3. I confirm that granting the non-exclusive license does not infringe other persons' intellectual property rights, the rights arising from the Personal Data Protection Act or rights arising from other legislation.

04.01.2022

^[1] The non-exclusive license is not valid during the validity of access restriction indicated in the student's application for restriction on access to the graduation thesis that has been signed by the school's dean, except in case of the university's right to reproduce the thesis for preservation purposes only. If a graduation thesis is based on the joint creative activity of two or more persons and the co-author(s) has/have not granted, by the set deadline, the student defending his/her graduation thesis consent to reproduce and publish the graduation thesis in compliance with clauses 1.1 and 1.2 of the non-exclusive license, the non-exclusive license shall not be valid for the period.